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 Revenues increased 4% to $ 298 million 
 EBITDA from continuing operations $ 23.7 million 
 Net earnings $ 5.9 million 
 Earnings per share $ 0.26 
 Credit facilities reduced by $ 17.5 million 
 Restructured $ 46 million of convertible debentures 
 Signed a new banking agreement 
 Sold Quebec operations and 49 % of China operations

 Established a new organizational structure 
 Strengthened our Corporate Services group 
 Deploying a new Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system 
 Consolidated offices in Canada and the UK 
 Rebranded IBI Group 
 Developed a Strategic Plan

2014 HIGHLIGHTS

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS – CONTINUING OPERATIONS

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
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We achieved financial stability 
in 2014, working in partnership 
with our stakeholders and with 
tremendous support from clients 
and staff. Moving forward into 
2015, we are well positioned with 
a Strategic Plan to achieve our 
targets for growth, profitability,  
and improved efficiency.
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“IBI Group is a firm built on talented employees 
who are committed to delivering the best 
services to our clients.” 

4



MESSAGE FROM THE CEO, 
SCOTT STEWART

The dedication of IBI Group’s 2,300 professionals has truly been 
remarkable in 2014. At the beginning of the year, IBI was emerging 
from financial difficulty, which resulted in many changes across 
the organization. Through the year we made remarkable progress 
toward our goal of financial stability, while holding true to our  
core values. 

Management will continue to focus on providing the highest quality 
service to our clients by continuing to enhance our employees’ 
capabilities, and our business processes and systems. IBI Group  
is a firm built on talented employees who are committed to 
delivering the best services to our clients. 

Financial Performance

We reduced the level of working capital locked up by 14 days 
as measured in gross billings. We implemented new processes 
targeted at continued improvements, all while taking the necessary 
steps to stabilize the company and pursue new opportunities for 
organic growth. 

Early in 2014 we initiated a recapitalization plan with our lending 
syndicate to reduce borrowing, make operational improvements, 
and enhance billing and collection efforts to further increase 
operating cash flow. With the commitment of our management 
team, we were able to achieve three significant milestones:

•	 Renegotiated the maturity date of our 7% convertible 
debentures to June, 2019

•	 Divested non-core assets, improving the financial performance 
of the business
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•	 Signed a new banking agreement with IBI Group’s senior 
lenders to amend the repayment terms, availability limits, 
and covenants of our senior credit facility 

We will continue to strengthen business processes, identify 
synergies, implement cost management initiatives, and 
pursue profitable and organic growth. We have already  
begun to see improvements in operational performance  
and increases in committed work to be delivered in 2015.

Growth 

The markets in which IBI Group operates continue to be 
promising. With this in mind, our business plan for 2015 
explores new opportunities to expand our range of services 
and work strategically within the geographical regions where 
IBI Group has a strong presence. The plan emphasizes 
continuing efficiencies in existing operations to maximize 
returns and cash generation in 2015. 

While we remain conservative in our projections, we have 
many reasons to believe that the new IBI Group is well poised 
to benefit from our growing strength in key market areas 
where we compete.

IBI Group has been transformed into a stronger, leaner 
organization comprised of professionals who possess the 
skills to realize the visions of our clients. We have a 40-year 
legacy of accomplishment across the globe. Yet, we believe 
our greatest achievements lay ahead. 

SCOTT STEWART 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, IBI GROUP
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“IBI has been 
transformed into 
a stronger, leaner 
organization …” IB
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MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT,  
DAVID THOM

In 2014, IBI Group embarked on an in-depth strategic planning  
process that resulted in the 2015–2018 Strategic Plan, which is currently 
being rolled out across the firm. In the Plan, we look beyond internal 
conditions and opportunities to the context in which we operate.  
As part of this exercise, we identified several trends related to urban 
development that show we’re in the right business for years to come.

“We see growth 
opportunities at 
the intersection of 
new trends, new 
technologies, and 
new businesses.”

The pace of urbanization is rapid and relentless. 

In 2008, world population crossed a threshold: more people are 
living in urban than in rural areas. This fact supports the argument 
that we’re in the right sector – we are not content to just ride this 
wave, we want to anticipate, take advantage of, and shape the 
waves still to come.  

According to the Strategic Plan, our base business – architectural, 
planning, and engineering – is projected to grow at a healthy pace in 
the next three years. Yet we know that the best growth opportunities 
will occur at the intersection of new trends, technologies, and 
businesses. This is why knowing where our clients are moving  
is critical for our future growth. 

New business models adapt to evolving needs.

Half of the world’s economic growth will be concentrated in 
mid-sized cities, and half of the $ 41 trillion projected infrastructure 
spending through 2030 is going to be located in developed 
economies. The operation and maintenance of existing facilities  
will make up an increasing share of infrastructure expenditures. 

This is why our Strategic Plan focuses on infrastructure projects  
that emphasize a longer-term business relationship with our clients 
and allow transfer of technology and expertise to similar projects  
in different locations. Our Advanced Traveller Information Systems, 
for example, used an initial project in Florida as the basis for  
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10 ongoing, longer-term hosting contracts across North America  
that provide continuous cash-flow while optimizing the cost of  
systems development.

New technologies are levers for solutions and opportunities.   

The Internet-of-Things will more than double the number of devices  
in use globally, and the global smart cities market will grow at three 
times the rate of our current business. Growing access to real-time 
data on our smartphones, such as transit information, is shaping  
our behaviour in urban areas.

The Strategic Plan establishes a task force of senior IBI staff who 
are examining our ability to leverage big data produced by buildings, 
infrastructure, and users, using our strong position in the transportation 
and intelligence sectors. Mobility IQ, the transportation information 
system that already has been tested in the UK, is an example of this 
emerging technology that we will extend to other areas.

Emerging trends produce insights that drive business.  

People in developed economies are increasingly working from 
or near home by preference or for financial reasons and younger 
demographics are shifting towards technology-enabled, multi-modal 
ways of moving through the city. People of all ages are demanding 
high-quality, walkable urban environments. 

This is why the Strategic Plan focuses on locations – such as inner- 
city brownfield locations and underutilized sites such as suburban strip 
malls – that have the demand and capability for soft urban retrofits, 
which would open, large, untapped markets across North America for 
IBI Group. For example, in Orem, Utah, a suburb of Salt Lake City, we 
are looking at the conversion of a high-volume, auto-oriented road into 
a boulevard that also accommodates cycling, car sharing and transit. 
These connections will make the community more valuable, attractive, 
and sustainable, while retaining its character.

IBI is more than skin-deep. We understand what goes on in  
and around our projects.

Cities will continue to grow and require proactive, integrative and 
user-oriented solutions to grow efficiently and intelligently. While 
there are many technology, design, and engineering firms out there, 
IBI is uniquely positioned to recognize the interrelationships and 
ripple effects of individual projects. We know how design interacts 
with technology in urban environments. We make sense of these 
complexities on the back end and deliver elegant solutions for the 
end-user. And we do this by understanding the meaning and effects  
of new trends, the capabilities and potentials of new technologies,  
and the value proposition of new business models. 

The future is indeed urban – and IBI is shaping it.

DAVID THOM 
PRESIDENT, IBI GROUP IB
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIR OF THE BOARD, 
DALE RICHMOND

Scott Stewart, our Chief Executive Officer, and David Thom, our 
President, began in their new roles less than two years ago and  
have successfully positioned IBI Group for growth. Together they  
have led IBI through a difficult and successful transformation.

“IBI is a firm  
built on great 
people committed 
to delivering  
quality services  
to our clients.”

Under their leadership, we have made significant progress in 
reducing our debt and improving cash flow and liquidity, all of which 
have strengthened IBI’s balance sheet and improved the company’s 
ability to pursue growth in sales and increase our committed work.

Many of the most challenging objectives of the recapitalization plan 
are now complete, and a new regional corporate structure has 
been in place since the first quarter of 2014 to enable IBI to capture 
strategic opportunities in every market in which we compete.  

Last year we committed to continued Board renewal, and at our 
Annual General Meeting in May, I was pleased to have Dr. Juri Pill  
and Jane Bird join us as independent directors. Dr. Pill and Ms. Bird 
bring a wealth of experience, know our industry, have a strong 
grounding in corporate governance, and are a valuable addition  
to the Board. 

Our reinvigorated Board will continue to work with management in 
the year ahead to provide diligent stewardship and oversight and 
ensure that IBI Group capitalizes on the new foundations that have 
been laid over the past two years.

The focus of your Board and management team will remain on 
financial performance, growth of IBI Group, and long-term value 
creation for the benefit of all shareholders. 

 
DALE RICHMOND 
CHAIR OF THE BOARD, IBI GROUP
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CANADA WEST 
21% OF REVENUES

USA WEST 
12% OF REVENUES

CANADA EAST 
36% OF REVENUES

UK/IRELAND 
11% OF REVENUES

USA EAST 
16% OF REVENUES

INTERNATIONAL 
4% OF REVENUES

CHINA

INDIAMEXICO

CARIBBEAN

EUROPE

MIDDLE EAST

IBI AT A GLANCE
We are a globally integrated architecture, planning, 
engineering, and technology firm.

We design every aspect of a truly integrated city  
for people to live, work, and play.

2014 Revenues from  
Continuing Operations:  
$ 298 Million

Founded 1974

Publically Traded  
Since 2004

OFFICESCOUNTRIES REGIONS EMPLOYEES

6914 6 2300

Intelligence

Software 
Systems Design  
Systems Integration 
    

THREE SECTORS OF EXPERTISE

CORPORATE HEAD OFFICE: TORONTOIBI Group is the eighth largest 
architecture firm in the world.

—World Architecture 100, 2015

Buildings

Architecture 
Interior Design 
Mechanical,  
Structural, and  
Electrical  
Engineering

Infrastructure

Civil Engineering 
Landscape Architecture 
Planning 
Transportation 
Urban Design
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THE INTERNET-OF-THINGS/
SMART CITIES

These new markets are poised to 
outgrow traditional tablet, PC, and 
smartphone markets combined.

GLOBAL TRENDS

Our Strategic Plan identifies global trends that show 
we’re in the right business  – now and in the future.

SHARING ECONOMY

Peer-to-peer (P2P) networks,  
collaborative consumption, and  
the access economy enable new 
business models that are disrupting 
the workplace and markets for 
accommodation and mobility.

 Takeaway 
The future will be about experiences, 
not ownership, flexibility not single-
purpose, the ride not the car.

 Takeaway 
Design must integrate technology  
into smarter, more connected 
buildings and infrastructure. 

URBANIZATION

A majority of the world’s population  
now lives in urban areas; by 2050,  
two-thirds of the world population  
will be urban dwellers. 

 Takeaway 
Urbanization is transforming smaller 
centres and rural communities as 
well as large cities. The future is 
urban no matter where you are.

12



Integrity  
We do what is right. 

Partnerships 
We work together.  

Excellence 
We pursue design excellence. 

Innovation 
We embrace ingenuity.

Community 
We build community. 

OUR VALUESOUR MISSION

OUR VISION

Defining the Cities of Tomorrow

We define how cities look, how cities 
feel, and how cities work.

We are the global partner to  
plan, design, build, and sustain 
the cities of tomorrow.

We are holistically minded, design 
inspired, and technology driven. 
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OUR STRATEGIC PLAN

DELIVERING ON THE PLAN

THE NOW, THE NEW, AND THE NEXT

Our new Strategic Plan contains our commitments for investors, 
clients, and employees over the short, medium, and long-term.

In 2014 we introduced a global Strategic Plan – our roadmap for 
the next three years. We are confident that global trends such as 
urbanization, the rise of smart cities, and the new sharing economy 
are good news for IBI. We are uniquely positioned for growth due 
to our core strengths in design and technology and our integrated 
offering across multiple sectors.

To deliver on the plan, we have restructured the firm along regional 
and sectoral lines, and created operational plans for each region 
and sector.

Regionally, we will continue to leverage our dominant market 
position in Canada to focus on urban in-fill projects and high-growth 
opportunities. In the US, we will consolidate operations in existing 
markets, but diversify local practices, leveraging national and global 
expertise. In the UK, we will expand into education and mental 
health markets and bring our North American expertise in mixed-
use, high-rise design to the London market. We will identify growth 
opportunities and extend our relationships in China to pursue 
Asian-financed developments in Western cities.

From a sectoral perspective, we are extending, integrating, and 
deepening our Intelligence capability from our core expertise in 
transportation systems into other Buildings and Infrastructure 
sectors such as education and healthcare. We have consolidated 
architecture and engineering practices to focus on large-scale, 
mixed-use projects and increasingly we are moving into new  
models of delivery such as public-private partnerships.

14



GOALS STRATEGIES METRICS

2015 GOALS AND STRATEGIES

FINANCIALS

Focus on higher margin activities.  Achieve an EBITDA consistent with 
industry norms, which are typically 
8 –12 %.

 Reduce Day Sales Outstanding (DSO).

MARGIN-FOCUSED APPROACH

Provide a stable, sustainable  
financial base. 

GROWTH

Diversify our regional services, 
collaborate across geographies, and 
integrate our three sectors more closely.

 Increase our top-line revenue consistent 
with industry norms.

BROADER, DEEPER, WIDER

Grow our fee-based professional 
services business. 

OPERATIONS

Consolidate/regionalize services,  
and improve operational efficiencies.

 Increase fee revenue share on projects  
by leveraging internal expertise.

 Increase collaboration between offices.

GLOBAL FIRM, PROFESSIONALLY MANAGED

Maximize efficiency  
and effectiveness. 

Nurture and develop our  
internal pool of talent.

Encourage a culture of curiosity, 
innovation, and design excellence.   

 Reduce voluntary turnover.

 Develop greater diversity among staff.

THOUGHT LEADERSHIPTALENT

Increase flexibility, adaptability,  
and resilience.  

Strengthen our cross-sector initiatives, 
focusing on opportunities for the now, 
new, and next.  

 Increase our Intelligence revenue share  
in the Buildings and Infrastructure sectors.

 Increase our waste/water/ 
environmental practice.

A STARTUP STATE OF MINDAGILITY
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Technology has defined and 
enriched our design solutions 
across all sectors since 
our founding in 1974, giving 
IBI a unique competitive 
advantage. We believe that 
technology should be the 
means to an admirable 
end – improving the human 
experience in our cities.
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“Design for learning in the 21st century should create inspired, agile 
spaces that promote both collaborative and personalized learning. 
Students use technology to learn at their own pace, and in their own  
way. Our designs must reflect that.” 
KARINA RUIZ 
IBI GROUP ARCHITECT AND GLOBAL LEARNING+ PRACTICE LEAD, PORTLAND
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TRILLIUM CREEK PRIMARY SCHOOL 
WEST LINN, OREGON, USA
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FOR MORE ABOUT  

THIS PROJECT:  
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https://www.youtube.com/user/ibilearning
https://www.youtube.com/user/ibilearning
http://macconnell.cefpi.org/2014/TrilliumCreek.pdf
http://macconnell.cefpi.org/2014/TrilliumCreek.pdf
http://www.ibigroup.com/projects/trillium-creek-primary-school
http://www.ibigroup.com/projects/trillium-creek-primary-school
https://www.youtube.com/user/ibilearning
http://macconnell.cefpi.org/2014/TrilliumCreek.pdf
http://www.ibigroup.com/projects/trillium-creek-primary-school


“User feedback via crowdsourcing software enabled us to reverse the usual 
design process, providing our architects with a comprehensive vision of 
user needs, preferences, and aspirations to guide the Richmond Public 
Library towards a consumer-tailored solution.”
OLIVER HARTLEBEN 
IBI GROUP PLANNER AND LEAD, IBI THINK, VANCOUVER

‘LIBRARY OF THE FUTURE’

IBI Group helped the Richmond Public 
Library tackle a major challenge – fewer 
visits due to easy access to information  
and materials online. 

Through our research and development  
arm, IBI THiNK, we reached out to users  
via online crowdsourcing to get their input  
on the library’s future role and design.

The results were very successful: over 
14,000 people responded to the initial  
survey. Of these, more than 2,600 people 
proposed 1,700 ideas and provided 5,800 
written comments.

The feedback enabled us to reverse the 
usual design process. Instead of starting 
with a design based on theoretical 
assumptions requiring vetting from the  
library community, architects began their 
work equipped with user needs and 
preferences to guide them towards  
a user-focused solution.
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RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY STRATEGIC PLAN 
RICHMOND, BRITISH COLUMBIA, CANADA

FOR MORE ABOUT  

HOW WE WORK:
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http://www.ibigroup.com/what-we-do/planning/public-outreach/
http://www.ibigroup.com/what-we-do/planning/public-outreach/
http://www.ibigroup.com/what-we-do/planning/public-outreach/


FOR MORE ABOUT  

THIS PROJECT:

GUADALAJARA-COLIMA HIGHWAY TOLL COLLECTION SYSTEM 
GUADALAJARA, MEXICO
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http://www.ibigroup.com/projects/guadalajara-colima-highway-toll-system
http://www.ibigroup.com/projects/guadalajara-colima-highway-toll-system
http://www.ibigroup.com/projects/guadalajara-colima-highway-toll-system


“In Mexico, we designed, supplied, and commissioned a manual and 
electronic tolling collection system and are now operating this system on 
one of the country’s most modern highways, running from Guadalajara, 
the second largest city, to Manzanillo, the busiest port. Toll systems like 
these make possible modern cross-country highways that improve driving 
conditions for travellers and boost the economy by improving efficiency 
and safety for commercial operators.” 
BERNARDO ORTIZ 
IBI GROUP GENERAL MANAGER, MEXICO CITY
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ROUTEMAPPER 
SERVICES IN THE UNITED KINGDOM,  
NORTH AMERICA, AND THE MIDDLE EAST
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FOR MORE ABOUT  

THIS SERVICE:
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http://www.ibigroup.com/projects/inventory-gap-analysis-and-collection-survey
http://www.ibigroup.com/projects/inventory-gap-analysis-and-collection-survey
http://www.routemapper.net/
http://www.routemapper.net/
http://www.ibigroup.com/projects/inventory-gap-analysis-and-collection-survey
http://www.routemapper.net/


“Our RouteMapper system creates a digital inventory of 2D and 3D  
photographic and laser images of highways and other linear networks. 
We use this data to produce topographic maps, manage and assess the 
condition of roadside assets, and as input into a range of other engineering 
and management tasks. This system increases the quality of work, saves 
money and time, and improves public and roadworker safety.”
DAVID KAMNITZER 
IBI GROUP TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS PLANNER, TORONTO
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“Transit systems have become increasingly complex and technological –  
in every detail from efficient energy use and traffic flow to relevant travel 
information delivery and signage. Our station designs for the new Ottawa 
Confederation Line LRT balance this technological dimension with the 
need for human scale and ease of use.” 
CHARLIE HOANG 
IBI GROUP ARCHITECT AND GLOBAL TRANSPORTATION BUILDING PRACTICE LEAD, TORONTO
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CONFEDERATION LINE LIGHT RAIL TRANSIT (LRT) 
OTTAWA, ONTARIO, CANADA

FOR MORE ABOUT  

THIS PROJECT:
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http://www.ibigroup.com/2012/12/06/ibi-group-part-of-consortium-selected-for-2-1-billion-ottawa-lrt-line/
http://www.ibigroup.com/2012/12/06/ibi-group-part-of-consortium-selected-for-2-1-billion-ottawa-lrt-line/
http://www.ligneconfederationline.ca/
http://www.ligneconfederationline.ca/
http://www.ibigroup.com/2012/12/06/ibi-group-part-of-consortium-selected-for-2-1-billion-ottawa-lrt-line/
http://www.ligneconfederationline.ca/


E-PAPER – INTELLIGENT TRANSIT DISPLAY SYSTEM 
BIRMINGHAM, UK
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THIS PROJECT:
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http://www.ibigroup.com/2014/06/30/e-paper-information-system-wins-star-award/
http://www.ibigroup.com/2014/06/30/e-paper-information-system-wins-star-award/
http://www.ibigroup.com/projects/e-paper-transit-display-system
http://www.ibigroup.com/projects/e-paper-transit-display-system
http://www.ibigroup.com/2014/06/30/e-paper-information-system-wins-star-award/
http://www.ibigroup.com/projects/e-paper-transit-display-system


“Many cities have GPS-based display signs at bus and streetcar stops 
that tell waiting commuters when the next vehicle will arrive. But only 
Birmingham, UK, has a low-energy e-paper display using technology 
developed by IBI Group.”
GRAEME SCOTT 
IBI GROUP TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS PLANNER, GLASGOW IB
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PIONEER VILLAGE SUBWAY STATION  
TORONTO, ONTARIO, CANADA

“The new Pioneer Village subway station in Toronto incorporates a unique 
interactive technology that allows commuters to type messages that 
display overhead in variable intensity LED lights. We will help transform  
an everyday journey into something artful, interactive, and delightful.”
BRUCE HAN 
IBI GROUP ARCHITECT, TORONTO

FOR MORE ABOUT  

WHAT WE DO:
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“Our state-of-the-art travel information systems delivered via websites 
and mobile phone apps help fans get to global sporting events by giving 
them real-time information about best routes, incident reports, and travel 
alternatives. The 2015 Pan/Parapan American Games in Toronto will build  
on our previous work at the Glasgow Commonwealth Games in 2014  
and the London Games in 2012.” 
BRUCE MORI 
IBI GROUP TRANSPORTATION PLANNER, TORONTO

2015 PAN/PARAPAN AMERICAN GAMES  
TRANSPORTATION MASTER PLAN 

TORONTO, ONTARIO, CANADA
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OUR EVENTS EXPERTISE:
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2016
Summer Olympic Games, Rio De Janeiro, BR

2015 
Pan/Parapan American Games, Toronto, Canada

2014 
Commonwealth Games, Glasgow, UK

2012 
Summer Olympic Games, London, UK

2010 
Winter Olympic Games, Vancouver, Canada 
Expo 2017 Feasibility Study, Calgary, Canada

2006 –2008 
2008/2012 Olympic Bids, New York, USA 
2014 Commonwealth Games Bid, Halifax, Canada 
2008 Olympic Stadium Design Competition, Beijing, CN

2004 
Summer Olympic Games, Athens, GR 
Democratic National Convention, Boston, USA

2002 
Winter Olympic Games, Salt Lake City, USA 
World Youth Day/Papal Visit, Toronto, Canada

1998 
Winter Olympic Games, Negano, JP 
Expo ’98 Canadian Pavilion, Lisbon, PT

1996 
Summer Olympic Games, Atlanta, USA

1994 
Winter Olympic Games, Lillehammer, NO 
Commonwealth Games, Victoria, Canada

1992 
Winter Olympic Games, Albertville, FR 
Summer Olympic Games, Barcelona, ES

1988 
  Stadium (Rogers Centre), Toronto, Canada

1986 
Expo ’86 Alberta Pavilion, Vancouver, Canada

1980 
Winter Olympic Games, Lake Placid, USA

EVENTS EXPERTISE

We’ve applied our expertise in systems, 
design, transportation, and planning 
to more than a dozen global sporting 
events going all the way back to the 
Winter Olympics in Lake Placid in 1980.

INTELLIGENCE 
BUILDINGS 

INFRASTRUCTURE
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“Building Information Modelling (BIM) is an incredible tool for architects.  
We can design and examine a building more thoroughly, make 
improvements, and catch challenges before they become problems. 
We can describe our designs to the client more convincingly, showing 
how their building will look, and how the spaces within the building will 
flow. The next step is using BIM to provide building data for facilities 
management, allowing the owner to use the information from the design 
process. BIM is integral to our architecture and engineering practices.” 
DANIEL FRIESEN 
IBI GROUP SENIOR ARCHITECTURAL TECHNICIAN, VANCOUVER

VANCOUVER URBAN RESORT 
VANCOUVER, BRITISH COLUMBIA, CANADA
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BREMNER POWER STATION 
TORONTO, ONTARIO, CANADA

“The Southcore district in Toronto needed a significant boost in electricity 
for new high-rise towers, new hotels, and new commercial spaces. We 
designed a unique indoor transformer station for Toronto Hydro, hidden 
from sight below grade.” 
ALEX HADDAD 
IBI GROUP ENGINEER, TORONTO

FOR MORE ABOUT  

THIS PROJECT:
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IBI Group Inc.  
Management discussion and analysis            
For the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2014 
The following Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of operating results and financial position 
of IBI Group Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) for the three and twelve months ended December 
31, 2014 should be read in conjunction with the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2014, including the notes thereto. Additional information relating to the 
Company, including its Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2014 is or will be 
available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

The financial information and tables presented herein have been prepared on the basis of International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”), for financial statements and are expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars.   

Forward-looking statements 

This report includes certain forward-looking statements that are based on the Company’s best information 
and judgments as at the date of this report. The forward-looking statements are subject to risks and 
uncertainties that may cause the actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in the 
discussion. See “Forward Looking Statements and Risk Factors” below for more information. 

Forward looking statements and risk factors  

Certain statements in this MD&A may constitute “forward-looking” statements which involve known and 
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or 
achievements of the Company and its subsidiary entities, including IBI Group or the industry in which they 
operate, to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or 
implied by such forward looking statements. When used in this MD&A, such statements use words such 
as “may”, “will”, “expect”, “believe”, “plan” and other similar terminology. These statements reflect 
management’s current expectations regarding future events and operating performance and speak only 
as of the date of this MD&A. These forward-looking statements involve a number of risks and 
uncertainties, including those related to: (i) the Company’s ability to maintain profitability and manage its 
growth; (ii) the Company’s reliance on its key professionals; (iii) competition in the industry in which the 
Company operates; (iv) timely completion by the Company of projects and performance by the Company 
of its obligations; (v) fixed-price contracts; (vi) the general state of the economy; (vii) integration of 
acquisitions by the Company; (viii) risk of future legal proceedings against the Company; (ix) the 
international operations of the Company; (x) reduction in the Company’s backlog; (xi) fluctuations in 
interest rates; (xii) fluctuations in currency exchange rates; (xiii) potential undisclosed liabilities associated 
with acquisitions; (xiv) upfront risk of time invested in participating in consortia bidding on large projects 
and projects being contracted through private finance initiatives; (xv) limits under the Company’s 
insurance policies; (xvi) the Company’s reliance on distributions from its subsidiary entities and, as a 
result, its susceptibility to fluctuations in their performance; (xvii) unpredictability and volatility in the price 
of Shares; (xviii) the degree to which the Company is leveraged and the effect of the restrictive and 
financial covenants in the Company’s credit facilities; (xix) dividends are not guaranteed and will fluctuate 
with the Company’s performance; (xx) the possibility that the Company may issue additional Common 
Shares diluting existing Shareholders’ interests; (xxi) income tax matters; (xxii) approval of the 

www.sedar.com
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recapitalization plan by the Company’s lending syndicate which is required by March 31, 2015 and 
achieving the specified requirements per the amended agreement. These risk factors are discussed in 
detail under the heading “Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual Information Form for the year ended 
December 31, 2014. New risk factors may arise from time to time and it is not possible for management 
of the Company to predict all of those risk factors or the extent to which any factor or combination of 
factors may cause actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different 
from those contained in forward-looking statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, investors should 
not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results. Although the 
forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are based upon what management believes to be 
reasonable assumptions, the Company cannot assure investors that actual results will be consistent with 
these forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this 
MD&A.  
 
The factors used to develop revenue forecast in this MD&A include the total amount of work the Company 
has signed an agreement with its clients to complete, the timeline in which that work will be completed 
based on the current pace of work the company achieved over the last 12 months and expects to achieve 
over the next 12 months. The Company updates these assumptions at each reporting period and adjusts 
its forward looking information as necessary. 

Company profile 

The business of the Company is conducted through IBI Group Partnership (“IBI Group”), a global 
architecture, engineering, planning and technology entity, which operates more than 60 offices in 15 
countries across the world. 

IBI Group has one operating segment, consulting services, which is concentrated in three practice areas:  

– Intelligence     

– Buildings        

– Infrastructure  

IBI Group’s professionals have a broad range of professional backgrounds and experience in urban 
design and planning, architecture, civil engineering, transportation engineering, traffic engineering, 
systems engineering, urban geography, real estate analysis, landscape architecture, communications 
engineering, software development, and many other areas of expertise, all contributing to the three areas 
in which IBI Group practices.  

The firm’s clients include national, provincial, state, and local government agencies and public institutions, 
as well as leading companies in the real estate building, land and infrastructure development, 
transportation and communication industries, and in other business areas. 

A-2
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Outlook 
 
The following represents forward looking information and users are cautioned that actual results may 
vary.  

Management is forecasting approximately $308 million in total revenue for the year ended December 31, 
2015 of which 80% is committed and under contract. The Company currently has $331 million of work 
that is committed and under contract for the next three years, of which $264 million is committed for 2015.   
This committed workload is a material factor and assumption used to develop revenue forecasts. The 
Company continues to see an increase in committed work to be delivered in 2015. The Company has 
approximately ten months of backlog (this is calculated on the basis of the current pace of work that the 
Company has achieved during the last 12 months ended December 31, 2014). 

The Company bases its view of industry standards on: 

1. Annual survey completed by The Environmental Financial Consulting Group, Inc (“EFCG”) who 
focuses on architecture and engineering industries. 

2. The reported performance of the Company’s direct competitors. 
3. The reports published by market analysts covering firms in the Company’s business sectors. 

Based on the most recent review of this information, EBITDA margins in the industry average 8-12%. 

Ongoing efforts are underway to improve the monitoring of financial results, identify synergies and 
implement cost management initiatives, strengthen the billings and collections process, and other long-
term debt commitments, and divest operations that are not in line with the Company’s growth strategies. 
The Company continues to seek out opportunities to enhance profitability. 
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Financial highlights 
(in thousands of dollars except for per share amounts) 
 
 

Three months 
ended 

December 31, 
2014 

(unaudited)

Three months 
ended 

December 31, 
2013 

(unaudited)

Year ended 
December 31, 

2014

Year ended 
December 31, 

2013

(restated2) (restated2)

Number of  working days                     63                  63                251                251 
Revenue  $           75,030  $        72,109  $      298,274  $      257,386 

Net income (loss) from continuing operations  $            (4,125)  $       (92,196)  $          5,919  $     (209,898)

Net income loss from discontinued operations  $            (2,849)  $         (8,712)  $         (9,079)  $       (13,570)

Net loss  $            (6,974)  $     (100,908)  $         (3,160)  $     (223,468)

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share  $             (0.30)  $           (4.46)  $           (0.14)  $         (10.05)
Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing 
operations

 $             (0.18)  $           (4.07)  $            0.26  $           (9.44)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing 
operations

 $             (0.14)  $           (4.07)  $            0.20  $           (9.44)

Adjusted EBITDA1  $             4,098  $          3,964  $        23,750  $        20,664 

Adjusted EBITDA1 as a percentage of revenue 5.5% 5.5% 8.0% 8.0%

1- See “Definition of Non-IFRS Measures”. 
2 - Restatement due to divestment of Quebec operations and 49% equity interest in China. See “Audited Consolidated Financial Statements – Note 18” 
 
 

Overview 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the following significant events occured: 
 

1. Effective July 23, 2014, the Company extended the maturity date of $46 million 7% convertible 
debentures from December 31, 2014 to June 30, 2019, in which consent fee notes payable were 
issued to the Debenture holders.  
 

2. Effective October 2, 2014, the Company concluded two divestment transactions which were used 
to reduce debt. 
 

3. Effective October 6, 2014, the Company signed a new banking agreement with its senior lenders 
which provides sufficient liquidity for the Company to execute its business plan. This agreement 
matures on March 31, 2016. 
 

4. As at December 31, 2013, the Company had notes payable due to the former owners of acquired 
businesses of $5.4 million of which $0.8 million was paid during the year. The Company 
renegotiated the terms of the remaining balance of these notes payable in January 2015 to 
amend repayment terms with a maturity of June 30, 2016.  

 
 
 
The two divestment transactions included the divesture of certain assets and liabilities of IBI/DAA Group 
Inc., CHB-IBI Group Inc., and Martin, Marcotte-Beinhaker Inc. (“Quebec”) and sale of 49% equity interest 
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in IBI China Holdings Limited (“China”) for proceeds of approximately $11.4 million subject to final closing 
balance sheet adjustments. 
 
As a result of the divestment activities of the Quebec and China businesses, the results of operations for 
the year ended December 31, 2014 have been presented as discontinued operations. The results of 
operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 have also been restated as such. 

Discontinued Operations 

For the three months ended December 31, 2014, revenue from discontinued operations was $nil 
compared to $5.7 million for the same period ending in 2013. Expenses from discontinued operations for 
the three months ended December 31, 2014 were $2.9 million compared to $14.4 million for the same 
period in 2013. As a result, net loss from discontinued operations for the three months ended December 
31, 2014 was $2.9 million compared to a loss of $8.7 million for the same period in 2013. 

For the year ended December 31, 2014, revenue from discontinued operations was $23.5 million 
compared to $30.6 million for the same period in 2013. Expenses from discontinued operations for the 
year ended December 31, 2014 was $32.6 million compared to $44.2 million for the same period in 2013. 
As a result, net loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $9.1 million 
compared to a loss of $13.6 million for the same period in 2013. 

Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

Revenue for the three months ended December 31, 2014 was $75.0 million, compared with $72.1 million 
in the same period in 2013. The increase is consistent with the Company’s forecasted increase in organic 
growth of 4% compared to the same quarter in 2013.  

Net loss from continuing operations for the three months ended December 31, 2014 was $4.1 million, 
compared with net loss in the same period in 2013 of $92.2 million. The net loss from continuing 
operations for the three months ended December 31, 2013 was attributable to the write-off of deferred 
financing charges of $2.5 million, as well as the accretion of convertible debentures and consent fee 
notes payable of $1.7 million, while the net loss from continuing operations for the same period in 2013 
was primarily attributable to the write-off of goodwill and intangibles of $94.7 million. 

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $298.3 million, compared with $257.4 million for the 
same period in 2013. The Company’s forecasted increase in organic growth for the year was 4%, which 
was offset by higher than expected reserves of $4.0 million for the year. See below for additional 
explanation.  
 
Net income from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $5.9 million compared 
to a loss from continuing operations of $209.9 million.  The decrease is primarily attributable to write-offs 
in 2013 related to goodwill of $174.3 million, work-in-process of $35.0 million, and accounts receivable of 
$12.9 million, offset in 2014 by a gain on the extinguishment of 7% debentures of $18.7 million.  
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In Q3 2013, with the introduction of the new senior leadership, management reviewed the ultimate 
collectability of work in process (“WIP”) and concluded that a year to date write-down of $35.0 million was 
required which was recorded against revenue. These write-downs were the result of: 
 

1. Management focusing on their new strategic direction 

2. Weaker economic factors in certain geographic areas 

3. Management stopped pursuing small dollar outstanding balances 

4. Accounts were in mediation or arbitration and recoveries expected were reduced 

Continued progress has been made over the past twelve months in restructuring and managing the 
operations by geographical regions. These changes have facilitated the Company’s ability to improve 
business processes, identify synergies, implement cost management initiatives, evaluate return on assets 
and achieve growth in sales.  
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Results of operations 
The results of operations presented below should be read in conjunction with the applicable interim 
unaudited and annual audited consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto, prepared in 
accordance with IFRS. 
  

	           Three months ended        Year ended 

(thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)  
 December  31, 

2014 
 December 31, 

2013 
 December 31, 

2014 
 December 31, 

2013 
  (unaudited) (unaudited)   

   (restated2)    (restated2) 
Revenue   $             75,030  $ 72,109  $ 298,274  $ 257,386 
      
Salaries, fees and employee benefits    53,900   51,567   212,180   214,158 
Rent    5,160   5,484   26,848   20,058 
Other operating expenses    10,037   7,608   38,837   36,494 
Foreign exchange gain    (783)   (420) (2,089)   (418) 
Amortization of intangible assets    189   1,176 819   5,397 
Amortization of property and equipment    1,027 659 2,669   1,937 
Impairment of property and equipment  - - 3,248  - 
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets  -   94,696 -   174,297 
Impairment of financial assets    834   2,798 2,812   13,545 

   $ 70,364  $ 163,815  $ 285,324             $           465,467 
Operating Income (Loss)   $ 4,666  $ (91,706)  $ 12,950  $ (208,080) 
       

Interest expense, net    5,197   3,996   18,693   14,222 
Other finance (income) costs     3,099   225   (14,585)   631 

Finance Costs (Income)   $ 8,296  $ 4,221  $ 4,108  $ 14,853 
       
Share of loss of equity-accounted investee, net of tax  81 - 81 - 
Net Income (Loss) before taxes   $ (3,711)  $ (95,927)  $ 8,761  $ (222,933) 

      
Current tax expense (recovery)    (343)           (1,086)   1,540    (111) 
Deferred tax expense (recovery)    757   (2,645) 1,302   (12,924) 

Income Taxes   $ 414  $ (3,731)  $ 2,842   $ (13,035) 
      
    Net income (loss) from continuing operations   $ (4,125)  $ (92,196)  $ 5,919   $ (209,898) 
    Net loss from discontinued operations    (2,849)   (8,712)   (9,079)   (13,570) 
Net Loss   $ (6,974)  $ (100,908)  $ (3,160)  $ (223,468) 
      
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)      
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss      

Income (loss) on translating financial statements of foreign  
    operations from continuing operations, net of tax   $ 57  $ 357  $ (366)   $ 2,156 

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax      57    357   (366)    2,156 
Total Comprehensive Loss   $ (6,917)  $ (100,551)  $ (3,526)  $ (221,312) 
      

Net Loss Attributable to:      
Common shareholders   $ (5,423)  $ (78,363)          $           (2,548)    $ (172,819) 
Non-controlling interests    (1,551)   (22,545)   (702)   (50,649) 

Net Loss   $ (6,974)  $ (100,908)           $           (3,160)  $ (223,468) 
       
Total Comprehensive Loss Attributable to:      

Common shareholders   $             (5,378)   $ (78,086)  $(2,742)  $ (171,151) 
Non-controlling interests    (1,539)   (22,465)   (784)   (50,161) 

Total Comprehensive Loss    $ (6,917)  $ (100,551)  $              (3,526)   $ (221,312) 
       
Earnings (Loss) per Share       

Basic and diluted loss per share    $ (0.30)  $ (4.46)  $                (0.14)   $ (10.05) 

Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations   $ (0.18)  $ (4.07)  $                  0.26   $ (9.44) 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations         $            (0.14)        $              (4.07)        $              0.20       $               (9.44) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                        
2 Restatement due to divestment of Quebec operations and 49% equity interest in China. See Note 18 – Discontinued Operations, in 
the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Description of Variances in Operating Results 
(in millions of dollars) 

i) Revenue from continuing operations 

The Company reports revenue net of direct recoverable costs as these costs can vary significantly from 
contract to contract and are not indicative of its professional services business. 
Revenue from continuing operations for the three months ended December 31, 2014 was $75.0 million, 
compared with $72.1 million in the same period in 2013. The increase is primarily attributable to the 
Company’s forecasted increase in organic growth of 4% compared to the same quarter in 2013. 

Revenue from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $298.3 million, 
compared with $257.4 million for the same period in 2013. The 15.9% increase in revenue for the year is 
attributable to the forecasted increase in organic growth of 4%, depreciation in the Canadian dollar 
against both the U.S dollar and British pound resulting in an additional $8.7 million in additional revenue, 
as well as the decrease in the WIP write-off of $31.7 million over 2013. This increase in revenue was 
offset by higher than expected reserves of $4.0 million for the year. 

ii) Salaries, fees, and employee benefits from continuing operations 

Salaries, fees, and employee benefits from continuing operations for the three months ended December 
31, 2014 was $53.9 million compared with $51.6 million in the same period in 2013.  

Salaries, fees and employee benefits from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 
was $212.2 million, compared with $214.2 million for the same period in 2013. 

This is a result of reductions in headcount as well as lower compensation. The impact of the reduction of 
headcount has been tempered in 2014 by depreciation in the Canadian dollar against both the U.S dollar 
and British pound resulting in an additional $4.5 million in salaries and employee benefits expense as a 
result of foreign exchange for the three months ended December 31, 2014. 

The Company continues to evaluate where synergies exist within the organization to further reduce these 
costs.  

iii) Rent from continuing operations 

Rent from continuing operations for the three months ended December 31, 2014 was $6.0 million 
compared to $5.5 million in the same period in 2013. This increase is attributable to an additional $0.7 
million of rent paid during the transition to the new Toronto office.  

Rent from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $26.9 million, compared with 
$20.1 million for the same period in 2013. The increase is primarily attributed to a $4.7 million charge 
taken on an onerous lease in Quebec as described below. Although the Quebec operations have been 
divested, the Company maintains principal responsibility for the lease and it is management’s best 
estimate at this time that the carrying value of the leasehold improvements will not be fully recoverable 
from the sub-lease tenants. In addition, the Company paid additional rent of $0.7 million during the 
transition to the new Toronto office as described above. 
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iv) Other operating expenses from continuing operations 

Other operating expenses from continuing operations for the three months ended December 31, 2014 
was $10.0 million compared to $7.6 million in the same period in 2013. As a percentage of revenues, 
operating expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2014 were 13.3% compared to 10.6% for 
the same period in 2013.  

Other operating expenses from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $38.8 
million, compared with $36.5 million for the same period in 2013. As a percentage of revenues, operating 
expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2014 were 13.0% compared to 14.2% for the same 
period in 2013.  

A reduction in overhead expenses as a percentage of revenues has been a continued area of focus for 
the Company as we look to improve overall efficiency. 

During the year, the Company paid $3.9 million to professional advisors to assist in the restructuring of 
the balance sheet. 

v) Foreign Exchange loss (gain)  from continuing operations 

Foreign exchange gain from continuing operations for the three months ended December 31, 2014 was 
$0.8 million compared to $0.4 million in the same period in 2013. The gain is attributed to exchange rate 
movements between the Canadian dollar and the US dollar and British pound.  

Foreign exchange gain from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 was a gain of 
$2.1 million compared with a gain of $0.4 million for the same period in 2013. The gain is attributed to 
exchange rate movements between the Canadian dollar and the US dollar and British pound. 

vi) Amortization of intangible assets from continuing operations 

Amortization of intangible assets from continuing operations for the three months ended December 31, 
2014 was $0.2 million compared to $1.2 million in the same period in 2013. The decrease is as a result of 
the write-off of other intangible assets during the three months ended December 31, 2013. 

Amortization of intangible assets from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 was 
$0.8 million compared with $5.4 million for the same period in 2013. The decrease is as a result of the 
write-off of other intangible assets during the three months ended December 31, 2013.  

vii) Amortization of property and equipment from continuing operations 

Amortization of property and equipment from continuing operations for the three months ended December 
31, 2014 was $1.0 million compared to $0.7 million during the three months ended December 31, 2013. 

Amortization of property and equipment from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 
2014 was $2.7 million compared with $1.9 million for the same period in 2013. The increase is primarily 
attributable to significantly more capital expenditures during the year related to the office moves. 
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viii) Impairment of property and equipment from continuing operations 

Impairment of property and equipment from continuing operations for the three months ended December 
31, 2014 was $nil compared to $nil in the same period in 2013.  

Impairment of property and equipment from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 
was $3.2 million compared to $nil in the same period in 2013. The increase is a result of a $3.2 million 
write-off related to leasehold improvements in Quebec. 

Although the Quebec operations have been divested, the Company maintains principal responsibility for 
the lease and it is management’s best estimate at this time that the carrying value of these leasehold 
improvements will not be fully recoverable from sub-lease tenants. 

ix) Impairment of Financial Assets from continuing operations 

Impairment of financial assets from continuing operations for the three months ended December 31, 2014 
was $0.8 million compared to $2.8 million in the same period in 2013. The decrease is primarily 
attributable to increased write-offs of accounts receivable and work-in-process, as described in the 
Overview section of this MD&A. 

Impairment of financial assets from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 was 
$2.8 million compared with $13.5 million for the same period in 2013. The decrease is primarily 
attributable to increased write-offs of accounts receivable and work-in-process, as described in the 
Overview section of this MD&A. 

x) Interest expense from continuing operations 

Interest expense from continuing operations for the three months ended December 31, 2014 was $5.2 
million compared to $4.0 million in the same period in 2013. The increase is primarily attributable to an 
increase of $0.8 million in interest paid on the credit facilities as described below. 

Interest expense from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $18.7 million 
compared with $14.2 million for the same period in 2013. An increase of $2.7 million in interest paid is the 
result of higher rates paid to the Company’s senior lenders. It is anticipated that these interest charges 
will decrease as the Company generates cash and repays its bank borrowings. In addition, interest 
expense on the 7% debentures increased due to increased accretion of $1.6 million. 

The amendment and extension of the 7% convertible debentures will give rise to significantly higher 
interest expense during the period from July 23, 2014 to June 30, 2019 as an effective interest rate of 
26.5% was used in determining the fair value on the date of the amendment. The Company has recorded 
the gain on extinguishment of debt in Q3 2014, but this will be offset by the higher accretion each quarter 
until maturity. The impact of this increased accretion has been $1.4 million increase in non-cash interest 
expense since July 23, 2014 to December 31, 2014. 
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xi) Other finance costs (income) from continuing operations 

Other finance costs (income) from continuing operations for the three months ended December 31, 2014 
was costs of $3.1 million compared to costs of $0.2 million in the same period in 2013. This increase in 
primarily attributable to the $2.5 million write-off of deferred financing charges during the three months 
ended December 31, 2014. 

Other finance costs (income) from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 was an 
income of $14.6 million compared with costs of $0.6 million for same period in 2013.  This change was 
primarily due to the net gain on extinguishment of the 7% convertible debentures of $18.7 million, offset 
by the increase in write off of deferred financing costs of $2.5 million. 

xii) Income taxes from continuing operations 

Income taxes from continuing operations for the three months ended December 31, 2014 was an 
expense of $0.4 million with the effective income tax rate at (11)% compared to a recovery of $3.7 million 
with income tax rate of 3.90% in the same period in 2013. The tax expense in the quarter was principally 
the result of US losses which were not tax effected and income generated in other jurisdictions.  

Income taxes from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 was an expense of $2.8  
million with an effective tax rate of 32 % compared with a recovery of $13.0 million with an effective tax 
rate of 5.49% for the same period in 2013.  

The increase in the effective tax rate for both comparative periods was primarily due to an increase in 
non-deductible amounts and tax rates in foreign jurisdictions. The increase is a result of the deferred tax 
charges related to the gain on amendment of 7% convertible debentures, and the onerous lease 
provision, as well as leasehold improvements write-downs as outlined above. 

xiii) Net income from continuing operations 

Three months ended December 31, 2014 

Net loss from continuing operations for the three months ended December 31, 2014 increased to $4.1 
million from a loss of $92.2 million from the same period in 2013. The factors impacting net loss are set 
out in the description of individual line item accounts above.  

Specific pre-tax items that have impacted net loss for both 2014 and 2013 from continuing operations in 
the fourth quarter are as follows: 

 

  2014   2013 
Work-in-process write-down   465 

 
(4,000) 

Accounts Receivable write-down  (834) 
 

(1,600) 

Impairment of goodwill     - 
 

(94,696) 

Accretion of convertible debentures and consent fee notes payable (1,663) 
 

- 

Deferred financing charges (2,474) 
 

- 

Total    (4,506)   (100,298) 
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Net loss from continuing operations attributable to common shareholders for the three months ended 
December 31, 2014 was $5.4 million or basic and diluted loss per share from continuing operations of 
$0.18 per share compared to a loss of $78.4 million or $4.07 loss per share for the same period in 2013. 
Basic and diluted loss per share for the combined continuing and discontinued operations for three 
months ended December 31, 2014 is $0.30 compared to a loss per share of $4.46 for the same period in 
2013. 
 
Year ended December 31, 2014 

Net income from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $5.9 million compared 
to a loss of $209.9 million for the same period in 2013. The factors impacting net income are set out in the 
description of individual line item accounts above.  

 

Specific items that have impacted net income from continuing operations in this period are as follows: 

 

  2014  2013 
Gain on extinguishment of 7% convertible debentures 18,700  - 

Impairment charge on leasehold improvements (3,248)  - 

Provision on onerous lease (4,738)  - 

Impairment of Goodwill  -  (174,297) 

Work-in-process write-down  (3,290)  (28,300) 

Accounts Receivable write-down  (2,812)  (12,100) 

Accretion of convertible debentures and consent fee notes payable (2,977)  - 

Deferred financing charges (2,474)  - 

Total (839)  (214,697) 

 
Net loss attributable to common shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $2.5 million or 
basic EPS from continuing operations of $0.26 per share and diluted EPS of $0.24 per share compared to 
a loss of $172.8 million or $9.44 loss per share for the same period in 2013. Basic and diluted loss per 
share for the combined continuing and discontinued operations is $0.14 per share compared to a loss of 
$10.05 per share for the same period in 2013. 

xiv) Adjusted EBITDA1 from continuing operations 

All of the factors outlined above have been adjusted for the discussion in the non-IFRS measure, 
Adjusted EBITDA1. The following summary of quarterly results outlines all the items which comprise the 
difference between net income from continuing operations in each of the following quarters. 

 
 
 
 
 

                                                        
1 See “Definition of Non-IFRS Measures”.  
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Selected annual information 
 
The selected information presented below should be read in conjunction with the applicable annual 
audited consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto, prepared in accordance with IFRS. 
 
  

                                  Year ended        

(thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)   
December  31, 

2014 
 December 31, 

2013 
 December 31, 

2012 
      

    (restated)  
Revenue    $ 298,274  $ 257,386  $ 296,351 
      
Net income (loss) from continuing operations         $        5,919 $    (209,898) $       (21,297) 
Net loss from discontinued operations   $      (9,079) $      (13,570) $           5,263 
Net loss   $      (3,160)  $    (223,468) $       (16,034) 
      
Basic and diluted loss per share         $        (0.14)  $       (10.05) $         (0.70) 
Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations         $          0.26    $         (9.44) $         (0.33) 
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations         $         0.20    $         (9.44) $         (0.33)                   
      

                                     
                                          

(thousands of Canadian dollars)   
December  31, 

2014 
 December 31, 

2013 
 December 31, 

2012 

      
      

Total assets   $252,063 $       242,261 $      467,043 
      
Onerous lease provisions   $          4,051 $                  - $                  - 
Due to related parties   - 10,000 10,000 
Consent fee notes payable   2,631 - 2,697 
Finance lease obligation   235 - - 
Credit facilities   63,423 85,479 72,903 
Convertible debentures   98,437 71,929 114,613 
Deferred tax liabilities   8,690 2,016 6,171 
Total long-term liabilities   $     177,467  $     169,424 $     206,384 
      
      

Net income from continuing operations 

In 2013, the Company’s net income from continuing operations was significantly impacted by the write-off 
of accounts receivable and WIP, as well as impairment of goodwill and intangibles, as discussed in the 
Results of Operations section of this MD&A. 
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Adjusted EBITDA1 from continuing operations for the previous eight quarters 

The following table provides quarterly historical financial data for the Company for each of the eight most 
recently completed quarters. This information should be read in conjunction with the applicable interim 
unaudited and annual audited consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto, prepared in 
accordance with IFRS. 
 

in thousands of dollars 
except for per share 
amounts 

December 31, 
 2014 

September 30, 
 2014 

June 30, 
2014 

March 31, 
2014 

December 31, 
2013 

September 30, 
2013 

June 30, 
2013 

March 31, 
2013 

         Revenue 75,030 73,605 76,182 73,456 72,109 34,602 76,605 74,071 
         Net Earnings (Loss) (6,974) 1,688     930  1,196 (100,908) (47,177) (76,039)  656 
Net Earnings (Loss) from 
continuing operations (4,125) 6,996 1,829 1,219 (92,196) (40,347) (76,367) (987) 

                  Add:           Interest expense, net 5,197 4,971 4,264 4,262 3,996 3,552 3,384 3,290 
  Current and deferred tax 
expense (recovery) 414 2,348    183  (103) (3,731) (8,343) (1,723) 762 

  Amortization    824    792 1,069   803 1,927 2,194 1,453 2,128 
         
 

6,435 8,111 5,516 4,962 2,192 (2,597) 3,114 6,180 
         EBITDA    2,310 15,107 7,345 6,181 (90,004) (42,944) (73,253) 5,193 
         EBITDA %  3.1% 20.5% 9.6% 8.4% -124.8% -61.7% -95.6% 7.0% 
Items excluded in 
calculation of Adjusted 
EBITDA1         

  Foreign exchange 
(gain)/loss (783) (606) 721 (1,421) (420) 262 (180) (80) 

  Fair value and loss on 
redemption of DSP (111) 212 355 231 111 78 (227) 69 

  Deferred financing 
charges 3,073 259 471 - - - - - 

  Restructuring costs - 1,101 - - - - - - 
  Gain on extinguishment 
of 7.0%  convertible 
debentures 

- (22,028) - - - - - - 

  Loss on consent fee 
notes - 2,437 - - - - - - 

  Deferred costs expense 
on extinguishment of 7.0% 
convertible debentures 

- 890 - - - - - - 

  Impairment of PP&E - 3,248 - - - - - - 
  Impairment of Goodwill & 
Intangibles - - - - 94,696 - 79,601 - 

  Onerous lease provision (391) 5,129 - - - - - - 
  Acquisition-related costs - - - - (419) (440) 558 205 
  Adjustment items - - - - - 47,858 - - 
         
 

   1,788 (9,358) 1,547 (1,190) 93,968 47,758 79,752 194 
         ADJUSTED EBITDA1   4,098 5,749 8,892 4,991 3,964 4,814 6,499 5,387 
         ADJUSTED EBITDA %   5.5% 7.8% 11.7% 6.8% 5.5% 6.9% 8.5% 7.3% 
         Earnings per share 
attributed to common 
shareholders 

(0.30) 0.07 0.04 0.05 (4.47) 0.17 (3.42) 0.03 

Earnings per share 
attributed to common 
shareholders from 
continuing operations 

(0.14) 0.39 0.04 0.05 (0.17) (0.34) 0.11 0.03 

weighted average share 
outstanding 17,808,484 17,756,535 17,614,730 17,551,668 17,521,765 17,188,635 17,162,554 16,931,241 

          
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                        
1 See “Definition of Non-IFRS Measures”. 
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Impact of Trends and Seasonality on Quarterly Results  
(in millions of dollars) 
 
i) Revenue 
 
Consolidated quarterly revenue for the last eight quarters was impacted as a result of revenue being the 
lowest in the third quarter following the summer as a result of staff taking vacations during the summer. 
 
ii)  Net earnings from continuing operations 
 
Net earnings from continuing operations was significantly impacted in the last three quarters of 2013 as a 
result of the write-offs of accounts receivable and WIP, as well as the impairment of goodwill and 
intangibles as discussed in the Results of Operations section of this MD&A. 
 
iii) Net earnings  
 
Net earnings from continuing operations was significantly impacted in the last three quarters of 2013 as a 
result of the write-offs of accounts receivable and WIP, as well as the impairment of goodwill and 
intangibles as discussed in the Results of Operations section of this MD&A. 

Liquidity and capital resources  

i) Working Capital  

The following table represents the working capital information: 
 

(in thousands of dollars) December 31, 2014 
 

December 31, 2013 Change 

Current assets $   212,430 $  216,809         $  (4,379)    

Current liabilities    (113,241)    (108,206)             (5,035)  
Working capital                      99,189    108,603 (9,414) 

 
Current assets decreased by $4.4 million as at December 31, 2014 when compared with December 31, 
2013. This is primarily the result of a $7.7 million decrease in WIP, as well as a $1.0 million reduction in 
income taxes recoverable. This was offset by a $2.3 million increase in cash, as well as a $1.6 million 
increase in accounts receivable. This was primarily attributable to the Company’s continued focus on 
billings and cash collection. 

Current liabilities increased by $5.0 million as at December 31, 2014 when compared with December 31, 
2013. This was primarily due to a $13.7 million increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities which 
is higher as a result of increased activity related to projects. The deferred revenue increased by $14.2 
million as a result of improved billing procedures across the Company. Income taxes payable have 
increased by $0.9 million. The amount due to related parties of $10 million was reclassified to current 
liabilities as amounts due to the GMP partnership are due April 2015. In addition, $10 million of the 
amount due under the credit facilities were classified as current as a result of the renegotiation of the 
terms of this debt in Q4 2014. This was offset by the $44.8 million carrying value of convertible 
debentures which were amended on July 23, 2014 to extend the maturity date to June 30, 2019.  
Accordingly, these were classified to long-term as at December 31, 2014.  
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ii) Working Capital Measured in Number of Days of Gross Billings1  

Included in working capital of the Company are amounts reflecting project costs and sub-consultant 
expenses. The Company only reports its net fee volume as revenue, which would not include the billings 
for the recovery of these incurred costs. Therefore, to measure number of days outstanding of working 
capital, the gross billings, which include the billings for recovery of project expenses, would result in a 
more consistent calculation. 

The table below calculates working days on a trailing twelve month basis, measured as days outstanding 
on gross billings, which over the last two years has been approximately 25% greater than net fee volume.  

 

Working days of gross billings 
outstanding1 

December 31, 
2013 

(unaudited) 

March 31, 
2014 

(unaudited) 

June 30,  
2014 

(unaudited) 

September 
30, 2014 

(unaudited) 

December 
31, 2014* 
(unaudited) 

Accounts receivable 65 64 65 65 62 
WIP 58 62 62 56 57 
Deferred revenue (9) (12) (12) (16) (19) 
 114 114 115 105 100 

 
*All figures in the table above have been adjusted to exclude results from discontinued operations. 
 
There has been a total decrease of 14 days in working capital as of December 31, 2014 compared to the 
same period last year. Since Q3 2013, the Company continues to carry out regular comprehensive 
reviews of its WIP and accounts receivable and has achieved significant improvements in the results of 
the billings and collections process as noted by the improvement in the aging of receivables per the table 
below. Improving the days outstanding in WIP and accounts receivable is a significant area of focus for 
the Company. There are ongoing programs and initiatives to accelerate billings and to reduce days 
outstanding even further. 

Components of Working Capital 
 

 

December 31, 
2013 

 

March 31, 
2014 

(unaudited) 

June 30,  
2014 

(unaudited) 

September 
30, 2014 

(unaudited) 

December 
31, 2014 

 
Accounts receivable 104.8 102.0 103.3 102.5 106.5 
WIP 93.1 98.6 97.7 87.3 85.4 
Deferred revenue (13.8) (18.5) (18.9) (24.5) (28.0) 
 184.1 182.1 182.1 165.3 163.9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                        
1 See “Definition of Non-IFRS Measures”. 
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i) Accounts Receivable 
 
The table below demonstrates the aging of receivables:   

Accounts 
receivable 
aging (net of 
allowance) 
 
(in thousands of 
dollars) 

December 
31, 2013 

 

 
% 

March 31, 
2014 

(unaudited) 

 
% 

June 30, 
2014 

(unaudited) 

 
% 

September 
30, 2014 

(unaudited) 

 
% 

December 
31, 2014 

 

 
% 

Current 34,283 32 40,730 40 39,465 39 37,214 36 40,284 38 
30 to 90 days 31,353 31 26,814 26 32,182 32 30,613 30 32,241 30 
Over 90 days  39,155 37 34,428 34 31,645 29 34,712 34 33,926 32 

Total  104,791 100 101,972 100  103,292 100 102,539 100 106,451 100 
  
The increase in accounts receivable is consistent with the increase in revenue. The Company made 
significant efforts to collect accounts receivable during the year. It is a major initiative of management to 
get billings out faster and collect outstanding invoices sooner. 
 

ii) Work In Process 
 
Work In Process has decreased $7.7 million since December 31, 2013. There has been a decrease in 
WIP since Q3 2014 of $1.9 million, which reflects the Company’s initiative to accelerate the process of 
completing billings. The Company is monitoring the aging of work in process to ensure that any accounts 
where billing may be an issue are being dealt with on a timely basis. 
 

iii) Deferred Revenue 
 
Deferred Revenue from continuing operations has grown by $14.2 million since December 31, 2013.  
There has been an increase in deferred revenue since Q3 2014 of $3.5 million which is the result of the 
Company’s continued efforts to get billings out faster as described above. The balance is monitored on a 
regular basis to ensure that amounts are recognized in fee revenue appropriately.  
 
Cash Flows 
 
Cash flows from operating, financing, and investing activities, as reflected in the Consolidated Statement 
of Cash Flows, are summarized in the following table:  
 

(in thousands of dollars) 
 

Three months 
ended  

December 31, 
2014 

Three months 
ended 

December 31, 
2013 

Change 

Cash flows provided by operating activities $  10,862     $    15,034 $    (4,172)  
Cash flows used in financing activities (13,894) (10,882) (3,012) 
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities   4,984      (706)   5,690  
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Operating Activities 

Cash flows from operating activities for the three months ended December 31, 2014 were $10.9 million 
compared to $15.0 million for the same period last year.  

After eliminating all the non-cash items in net income, the deterioration in operating cash flows is primarily 
due to the higher interest costs paid to the Company’s senior lenders as a result of the renegotiation of 
the credit facilities during the three months ended December 31, 2014. In addition, higher taxes were paid 
during the three months ended December 31, 2014 compared to the same period last year in which tax 
refunds were received as a result of non-capital loss carrybacks.  

Cash flows used in operating activities for discontinued operations for the three months ended December 
31, 2014 was $0.4 million compared to $4.4 million of cash flows from operating activities for the same 
period in 2013. The decrease is primarily attributable to the disposal of the related revenue-generating 
assets. 

Financing Activities 

Cash flows used in financing activities for the three months ended December 31, 2014 were $13.9 million 
compared with cash flows used in financing activities of $10.9 million for the same period last year. In 
comparison to Q4 2013, the Company repaid an additional $5.4 million to the credit facility, offset by a 
decrease in repayment on the vendor notes payable of $2.4 million. 

Cash flows used in financing activities for discontinued operations for the three months ended December 
31, 2014 were $nil compared to cash flows from financing activities of $0.6 million for the same period 
last year. The decrease is attributable to the disposal of these operations. 

Investing Activities 

Cash flows provided by investing activities for the three months ended December 31, 2014 were $5.0 
million compared with $0.7 million used for the same period last year. This is due to $9.1 million of 
proceeds from disposal of discontinued operations, offset by $4.2 million in capital expenditures, primarily 
related to equipping the Company’s new office in Toronto. 

Cash flows used in investing activities for discontinued operations for the three months ended December 
31, 2014 and 2013 were nominal.  

Cash flows from operating, financing, and investing activities, as reflected in the Consolidated Statement 
of Cash Flows, are summarized in the following table: 

 

(in thousands of dollars) 
 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2014 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2013 

Change 

Cash flows provided by operating activities $     26,948  9,624 $   17,324  
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities (18,309) 871 (19,180) 
Cash flows used in investing activities   (4,484) (1,931)   (2,553) 

 

Operating Activities 

Cash flows from operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $27.0 million compared 
to $9.6 million for the same period last year.  
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After eliminating all the non-cash items which have impacted net loss, the improvement in operating cash 
flows is the result of improved billings which has resulted in an increase in deferred revenue from $13.8 
million to $28.0 million. In addition, the Company paid an additional $2.7 million in interest to its senior 
lenders as a result of the renegotiation of its credit facilities.  The Company also had an increase in net 
income taxes payable as at December 31, 2014 of $2.0 million. 

Cash flows used in operating activities for discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 
were nominal compared to cash flows from operating activities of $4.5 million for the same period last 
year. The decrease is primarily attributable to the disposal of the related revenue-generating assets. 

 
Financing Activities 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company used $17.5 million to repay the credit facility. In the 
year ended December 31, 2013, the Company increased its borrowings on credit line by $10.2 million net 
of repayments, during the same period the Company repaid vendor notes of $5.0 million, paid dividends 
of $2.3 million and made distributions to non-controlling interests of $2.0 million.  

Cash flows used in financing activities for discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 
was $0.1 million compared to $0.9 million of cash flows from financing activities for the same period last 
year. The decrease is attributable to the disposal of these operations. 

Investing Activities 

For the year ended December 31, 2014, proceeds from the disposal of discontinued operations were $9.1 
million, compared to nil for the same period last year. 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company incurred capital expenditures of $13.6 million, 
which includes $10.6 million to purchase computer and equipment to outfit offices in Toronto and 
Montreal. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company used $1.9 million for capital 
expenditures.  

Cash flows used in investing activities for discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 
were nominal compared to $3.7 million of cash flows from investing activities for the same period last 
year, which is primarily attributable to a decrease in capital expenditures. 

Credit Facility and Bid Bond Guarantee Facility 

As at December 31, 2013, the Company had a credit facility of $120.0 million, which was set to mature 
July 29, 2016. The Company had borrowed $87.8 million under the credit facility as at December 31, 
2013 with unamortized transaction costs of $2.4 million. The net amount of $85.5 million was classified as 
long-term in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2013. Advances under 
these credit facilities bore interest at a rate based on the Canadian dollar or U.S. dollar prime rate, LIBOR 
or banker’s acceptance rates, plus, in each case, an applicable margin.  

In addition, a bid bond guarantee facility (the “Bid Bond Facility”) of up to US$20.0 million was available to 
the Company to meet certain project requirements calling for the issuance of bid bonds to international 
customers. As at December 31, 2013, the Company issued bid bonds in the amount of $2.3 million under 
the Bid Bond Facility. The Bid Bond Facility was only available by way of letters of credit or letters of 
guarantee.   
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On October 2, 2014 the Company finalized the sale of its Quebec operations and a 49% equity interest in 
China.  Proceeds received of $9.1 million from the sale were used to reduce the existing indebtedness 
under the Company’s credit facilities. 

On October 6, 2014, the Company reached an agreement with its senior lenders to amend its existing 
credit facilities. The amended credit facilities consist of a swing line facility for $3.5 million, a revolver 
facility for $14.5 million, an office capital expenditure facility for $7.0 million, a letter of credit facility for 
$7.0 million and a term facility for $62.0 million. The Bid Bond Facility was cancelled as part of the new 
financing agreement.  The aggregate availability under the amended credit facilities on closing was $94.0. 
The agreement requires step-down payments on the term facility of $5.0 million on October 31, 2014, 
$5.0 million on July 31, 2015, $5.0 million on October 31, 2015 and $47.0 million on maturity relating to 
the term loan facility. The Company made the required $5.0 million payment to reduce the term loan 
facility in October.  In addition, the availability on the term loan facility was reduced by $5.0 million and the 
availability on the letter of credit facility was reduced by $2.0 million during the year, resulting in total 
available borrowings under the amended credit facilities to $87.0 million as of December 31, 2014. As at 
December 31, 2014, the Company had issued letters of credit of $4.9 million. The credit facility has a 
maturity date of March 31, 2016. 

The revolver facility is subject to a borrowing base calculation. In addition, the availability of each credit 
facility is subject to compliance with certain financial, reporting and other covenants. Advances under the 
credit facilities bear interest at a rate based on the Canadian dollar prime rate or US dollar base rate plus, 
in each case, an applicable margin.   

The amendment to the existing credit facilities was considered an extinguishment for accounting 
purposes. This resulted in a write-off of deferred financing costs of $2.5 million that was recognized in 
other finance costs in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss. 

The credit facilities contained financial covenants including funded debt to EBITDA ratio, fixed-charge 
coverage ratio, and restrictions on distributions, if certain conditions were not met. The Company was in 
compliance with its credit facility covenants as at December 31, 2014. 

As at November 1, 2014, the Company was required under the credit facilities to renegotiate paument 
terms under the vendor notes payable. The Company did not comply with this covenant and subsequently 
obtained waivers to renegotiate the terms of the vendor notes payable by January 15, 2015, as noted in 
Note 19 – Notes Payable, in the audited consolidated financial statements. These notes were 
renegotiated by January 15, 2015. Subsequent to year end, the Company entered into a transaction to 
factor receivables that exceeded the allowed threshold by less than a thousand dollars. The Company 
has obtained a waiver from its banks. 

Continued compliance with the covenants under the amended credit facilities is dependent on the 
Company achieving revenue forecasts, profitability, reducing costs and the overall improvement of 
working capital and an appropriate recapitalization plan. Market conditions have been difficult to predict 
and there is no assurance that the Company will achieve its forecasts. In the event of non-compliance, 
the Company’s lenders have the right to demand repayment of the amounts outstanding under the 
lending agreements or pursue other remedies if the Company cannot reach an agreement with its lenders 
to amend or waive the financial covenants. As in the past, the Company will carefully monitor its 
compliance with the covenants and will seek waivers, subject to lender approval, as may become 
necessary from time to time.  
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Security Interest of Senior Lenders 

Guarantees from certain subsidiaries of IBI Group as well as IBI Group Architects (Ontario), and a first 
ranking security interest in all of the assets of IBI Group and the guarantors, subject to certain permitted 
encumbrances, have been pledged as security for the indebtedness and obligations of IBI Group under 
the credit facilities. The indebtedness secured by these security interests will rank senior to all other 
security over the assets of IBI Group and the guarantors, subject to certain permitted encumbrances. 

Notes Payable 

The Company had notes payable due to the former owners of acquired businesses of $5.0 million of 
which $2.8 million was due September 30, 2014 and the remaining balance was due December 11, 2014.  
The Company renegotiated the terms of these notes payable in January 2015 to extend maturity to June 
30, 2016.  Monthly payments on these notes payable are US $0.1 million until May 31, 2016 with a 
balloon payment of US $2.7 million due June 30, 2016. 

Balance, December 31, 2013 $            5,381 
  
Repayment (795) 
Foreign exchange 428 

  
Balance, December 31, 2014 $ 5,013 

Convertible Debentures                                                                

The Company has three series of convertible debentures outstanding as at December 31, 2014. 

7.0% Debentures ($46.0 million principal, matures on June 30, 2019) 

On July 23, 2014, IBI announced that it entered into a supplemental trust indenture with CIBC Mellon 
Trust Company, the trustee for the 7.0% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (“Debentures”) 
which were originally scheduled to mature on December 31, 2014, to give effect to the amendments 
approved at a special meeting of the Debenture holders to extend the maturity of the Debentures to June 
30, 2019. In exchange for the extension of the maturity, Debenture holders that delivered and did not 
withdraw a valid proxy voting for the extension received either; a reduced conversion price to $5.00 per 
share from $19.17 per share with a consent fee note equal to $86.96 per $1,000 principal amount of 
Debentures (“Option B”) or the Debenture holders retained the conversion price of $19.17 per share and 
received a consent fee note equal to $195.65 per $1,000 principal amount of Debentures (“Option A”).  
The conversion price was also reduced to $5.00 per share from $19.17 per share for Debenture holders 
who did not deposit a proxy, abstained from voting or voted against the Debenture amendments (“Option 
C”). The Debentures bear interest from the date of issue at 7.0% per annum, payable in equal semi-
annual payments in arrears on June 30th and December 31st of each year. The consent fee notes are 
unsecured, non-convertible, mature on December 31, 2016 and bear interest at the rate of 7.0% per 
annum which is payable on maturity. 

The amendments to the Debentures resulted in them being accounted for as extinguishments for 
accounting purposes. Consequently, the original Debentures were derecognized and the new Debentures 
(under Option A, B and C) were recognized at fair value, resulting in a pre-tax gain on extinguishment of 
$21.1 million, net of transaction costs of $0.9 million which was recorded to other finance costs in the 
statement of comprehensive loss.  
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The fair value of the new Debentures issued under Option B and C of $18.7 million was estimated using 
the observed trading price as these Debentures are considered to be traded in an active market. The fair 
value was then allocated to the liability component in the amount of $15.9 million using discounted future 
cash flows at an estimated fair value discount rate of 26.5% and the residual was allocated to the Option 
B and C conversion feature in equity. The fair value of the new Debentures issued under Option A of $7.5 
million was estimated using discounted future cash flows at an estimated fair value discount rate of 
26.5%, with a comparison to pre-modification observed trading prices indicating that the equity 
component was of nominal value.  As a result, substantively all of the fair value of the new Debentures 
issued under Option A was allocated to the liability component. 

The fair value of the consent fee notes issued under Option A and B were $2.0 million and $0.5 million 
respectively, using discounted future cash flows at an estimated fair value discount rate of 26.5%.   

The new Debentures and consent fee notes were subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method over their respective lives to maturity. As at December 31, 2014, the liability 
component of the new Debentures have an amortized cost of $25.3 million and the consent fee notes 
have an amortized cost of $2.6 million. The accretion expense for the new Debentures and consent fee 
notes was $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. The equity component for the conversion 
feature of the new Debentures in the amount of $2.9 million is measured at fair value at the date of 
issuance.  

Post amendment, the ticker symbol for the new Debentures under Option B and C (aggregate principal 
amount of $31.2 million) is IBG.DB and for Option A (aggregate principal amount of $14.8 million) is 
IBG.DB.C. The fair value of the new Debentures under Option B and C was $14.1 million and for Option 
A was $8.4 million based on their respective quoted market price as at December 31, 2014. 

5.75% Debentures ($20.0 million principal, matures on September 30, 2017) 

The 5.75% Debentures are recorded as compound financial instruments. The liability component was 
recorded at fair value on the date of conversion to a corporation and measured subsequently at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method over the life of the 5.75% Debentures. As at December 31, 2014, 
the liability component has an amortized cost of $18.8 million (December 31, 2013 - $18.4 million). The 
equity component for the conversion feature of $0.9 million is measured at the fair value on the date of 
conversion to a corporation. The 5.75% Debentures have a maturity date of September 30, 2017 at $20.0 
million. The 5.75% Debentures are convertible into shares of the Company at the option of the holder at a 
conversion price of $20.52 per unit. The 5.75% Debentures are redeemable by the Company at a price of 
$1,000 per 5.75% Debenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, on or after June 30, 2015 and prior to the 
maturity date (provided that, if the redemption is prior to June 30, 2015, the weighted average trading 
price of the shares of the Company on the TSX for the 20 consecutive trading days ending five trading 
days preceding the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the Conversion 
Price of $20.52). The Debentures bear interest from the date of issue at 5.75% per annum, payable in 
equal semi-annual payments in arrears on June 30th and December 31st of each year. The fair value of 
the 5.75% Debentures was $8.4 million based on the quoted market price as at December 31, 2014. 

6.0% Debentures ($57.5 million principal, matures on September 30, 2018) 

The 6.0% Debentures are recorded as compound financial instruments. The liability component was 
recorded at fair value on issuance and was subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method over the life of the 6.0% Debentures. As at December 31, 2014, the liability component 

A-22



 
23 – IBI Group Inc. – December 31, 2014 

 

has an amortized cost of $54.3 million (December 31, 2013 - $53.5 million). The equity component for the 
conversion feature of $3.2 million is measured at the fair value on the date of conversion to a corporation. 
The 6.0% Debentures have a maturity date of September 30, 2018 at $57.5 million. The 6.0% 
Debentures are convertible into common shares of the Company at the option of the holder at a 
conversion price of $21.00 per share. The 6.0% Debentures are redeemable by the Company at a price 
of $1,000 per 6.0% Debenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, on or after June 30, 2014 and prior to 
the maturity date (provided that, if the redemption is prior to June 30, 2016, the weighted average trading 
price of the shares of the Company on the TSX for the 20 consecutive trading days ending five trading 
days preceding the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the Conversion 
Price of $21.00). The Debentures bear interest from the date of issue at 6.0% per annum, payable in 
equal semi-annual payments in arrears on June 30th and December 31st of each year. The fair value of 
the 6.0% Debentures was $22.4 million based on the quoted market price as at December 31, 2014. 

Financial Risk Management 

The Company has exposure to market, credit and liquidity risk. The Company’s primary risk management 
objective is to protect the Company’s statement of financial position, comprehensive loss and cash flow in 
support of sustainable growth and earnings. The Company’s financial risk management activities are 
governed by financial policies that cover risk identification, tolerance, measurement, authorization levels, 
and reporting. 

(a) Market risk 

Interest Rate Risk  

The Company’s credit facilities have floating-rate debt, which subjects it to interest rate cash flow risk. 
Advances under these credit facilities bear interest at a rate based on the Canadian dollar or United 
States dollar prime rate, LIBOR or banker’s acceptance rates, plus, in each case, an applicable margin. 

If the interest rate on the Company’s variable rate loan balance as at December 31, 2014, had been 50 
basis points higher, with all other variables held constant, net loss for the year ended December 31, 2014 
would have increased by approximately $0.3 million. If the interest rate had been 50 basis points lower, 
there would have been an equal and opposite impact on net loss. 

Currency Risk  
 

The Company’s foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of the future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s policy has been 
to economically hedge foreign exchange exposures rather than purchasing currency swaps and forward 
foreign exchange contracts.  

Foreign exchange gains or losses in the Company’s net income arise on the translation of foreign-
denominated financial assets and liabilities (such as cash, accounts receivable, work in process, 
accounts payable, credit facilities and vendor notes payable) held in the Company’s Canadian operations. 
The Company minimizes its exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations on these items by matching US-
dollar liabilities when possible. 

If the exchange rates had been 100 basis points higher or lower at December 31, 2014, with all other 
variables held constant, net loss would have increased or decreased by $0.09 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2014.  
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(b) Credit risk 

Financial instruments that subject the Company to credit risk consist primarily of accounts receivable. The 
Company maintains an allowance for impairment losses on accounts receivable. The estimate is based 
on the best assessment of the ultimate collection of the related accounts receivable balance based, in 
part, on the age of the outstanding accounts receivable and on its historical impairment loss experience. 

A significant portion of the accounts receivable are due from government and public institutions.  
Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are considered by management to have no significant 
collection risk.  The liquidity of customers and their ability to pay receivables are considered by 
management to have no significant collection risk.  The liquidity of customers and their ability to pay 
receivables are considered in assessing the impairment of such assets.  No collateral is held in respect of 
impaired assets or assets that are past due but not impaired.   
 
(c) Liquidity Risk  

The Company strives to maintain sufficient financial liquidity to withstand sudden adverse changes in 
economic circumstances. Management forecasts cash flows for its current and subsequent fiscal years to 
identify financing requirements. These requirements are then addressed through a combination of 
committed credit facilities and access to capital markets.  

As at December 31, 2014, the Company had $10.3 million of cash plus $8.6 million of available credit 
under its credit facilities.  

Access to additional liquidity is subject to meeting the terms of the credit facilities, the Company’s 
operating performance and the implementation of a recapitalization plan subject to lender approval. As 
discussed in the Overview section of this MD&A, the Company amended the 7.0% convertible 
debentures, divested certain operations in Quebec and China and amended the credit facilities with the 
lending syndicate during the year. 

As at December 31, 2013, the Company had $8.1 million of cash plus $29.8 million of available credit 
under its credit facilities. 

IBI Group’s swing facility and credit facility (the “Credit Facilities”) will need to be renewed or refinanced 
no later than March 31, 2016.  The Company is putting together a plan to support an extension or 
refinancing alternative, which is subject to approval from their lenders acting reasonably. Although the 
Company believes that it can negotiate an extension or renewal of the Credit Facilities or obtain 
replacement financing prior the expiration of the Credit Facilities, there can be no assurance that the 
Credit Facilities will be extended or renewed or that future borrowings will be available to IBI Group, or 
available on acceptable terms, in an amount sufficient to meet the Company’s financing requirements at 
that time.  If such an extension or renewal or future borrowings were not available, or not available on 
acceptable terms, it would have a material adverse impact on the Company’s business and financial 
condition. 
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Contractual obligations 

As part of continuing operations, the Company enters into contractual obligations from time to time. The 
table below summarizes the contractual obligations due on financial liabilities and commitments under 
operating leases as of December 31, 2014: 
 

Contractual Obligations Payment Due by Period 
(in millions of dollars) 
  

Total Less than 1 
Year 

1-3 Years 4-5 Years After 5 
Years 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $       57.4 $       57.4 $             - $             - $            - 
Vendor notes payable1  5.0 5.0 - - - 
Credit facilities       73.4       10.0       63.4             -            - 
Interest on credit facilities 6.2 5.0 1.2 - - 
Convertible debentures  123.5 - 20.0 103.5 - 
Interest on convertible debentures 30.6 7.8 15.4 7.4 - 
Operating leases 179.8 21.0 39.2 29.6 90.0 
Consent fee notes payable 3.5 - 3.5 - - 
Finance lease obligation 0.9 0.7 0.2 - - 
Due to related parties 10.0 10.0 - - - 
Total Contractual Obligations $     490.3    $      116.9    $    142.9     $      140.5    $      90.0   

*On July 23, 2014, the maturity date of the 7.0% Debentures were extended from December 31, 2014 to June 30, 2019. 

 
For further information regarding the nature and repayment terms of the credit facilities and convertible 
debentures, refer to Note 6 – Financial Instruments of the audited consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2014.  

Capital management  

The Company’s objective in managing capital is to maintain a capital base that will maintain investor, 
creditor, and market confidence and to sustain future growth within the business. The Company defines 
its capital as the aggregate of credit facilities, convertible debentures, and equity. 

The Company has reviewed its anticipated revenues and costs over future years and has determined that 
the business has the ability to generate sufficient cash resources to fund its activities. A downturn in the 
economy or other unfavourable events may cause this situation to change. In conjunction with this 
analysis, the Company’s financing strategy is to access capital markets to raise debt and equity financing 
and utilize the banking market to provide committed term and operating credit facilities to support its 
short-term and long-term cash flow needs. 

Future Cash Generation 

Specific items of consideration in future cash generation are as follows: 

1. Ability to generate sufficient cash 

The Company’s existing business plan indicates that future earnings and cash flow generated will 
be sufficient to pay down and re-finance existing amounts outstanding within current thresholds 

                                                        
1	  As at December 31, 2013, the Company had notes payable due to the former owners of acquired businesses of $5.4 million of 
which $0.8 million was paid during the year. The Company renegotiated the terms of the remaining balance of these notes payable 
in January 2015 to amend repayment terms with a maturity of June 30, 2016. Monthly payments on these notes payable are US 
$0.1 million until May 31, 2016 with a balloon payment of US $2.7 million due June 30, 2016.  
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acceptable to lenders. In the event that capital markets deteriorate or the Company does not 
execute on its business plan this situation may change. Reference should be made to 
commentary on forward looking statements in this document. 

2. Circumstances that could affect funding 

In the event that capital markets deteriorate or the Company does not execute on its business 
plan this will affect ability to attract and / or generate sufficient funds. 

3. Working capital requirements 

Currently the business has sufficient financing to fund its working capital requirements. 
Management is implementing procedures and systems that are expected to reduce the level of 
working capital on the balance sheet. If achieved, this will reduce existing borrowing amounts. 

4. Situations involving extended payment 

There are situations where arrangements with clients result in extended payment arrangements 
on projects. Management is implementing procedures and systems to improve cash flow 
forecasting before contracts are signed with clients to continue to ensure that sufficient cash flow 
is generated from each project. 

5. Circumstances that impact essential transactions 

Certain larger projects in the architecture and engineering marketplace require capital investment 
to participate in the business opportunity. While the Company will continue to participate in these 
activities it will continue to do so only where probability of sufficient cash flow generation is 
determined at the beginning of the project. 

6. Sources of funds to meet capital expenditure requirements 

With the exception of 2014, where new leases were signed on two major offices, the Company 
does not have significant capital needs in relation to its cash generating ability. In the event that 
capital markets deteriorate or the Company does not execute on its business plan this situation 
may change. Reference should be made to commentary on forward looking statements in this 
document. 

7. Credit Facility 

As outlined in previous paragraphs, the Company has entered into a new credit facility with senior 
lenders on October 6, 2014 that provides sufficient operating capital for the Company to execute 
its business plan, until March 31, 2016. The Company anticipates being able to re-finance the 
credit facility prior and up to maturity based on the recapitalization plan, subject to successful 
execution of that plan. 

8. Divestures 

The Company also has ongoing efforts in place to identify parts of the business where the return 
on assets does not align with the long-term growth and performance strategies established by the 
senior leadership team.  
 
 
 

 

A-26



 
27 – IBI Group Inc. – December 31, 2014 

 

9. Convertible Debentures 

As outlined above, the Company has three series of debentures that provide a basis of capital 
which requires repayment or refinancing over the period from September 2017 to June 2019. 

Share capital  

The company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares. As at December 31, 2014, 
the Company’s common share capital consisted of 17,808,484 shares issued and outstanding.  

Each share entitles the holder to one vote at all meetings of shareholders.  

The 5,025,778 Class B partnership units of IBI Group are indirectly exchangeable for common shares of 
the Company on the basis of one share of the Company for each Class B subordinated partnership unit. If 
all such Class B partnership units of IBI Group had been exchanged for shares on December 31, 2014, 
the units issued on such exchange would have represented a 22.2% interest in the Company.  

Class B partnership units do not entitle the holder to voting rights at the meetings of shareholders. The 
Class B partnership units have been recorded as a non-controlling interest in the consolidated financial 
statements as at December 31, 2014.  

Share Issuances  

• During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company issued 141,805 common shares for 
a total of $404 in exchange for Class B partnership units of IBI (US) Limited Partnership which 
had been issued in a prior year for the acquisition of one of its subsidiaries. This resulted in a 
reduction of non-controlling interest by $2,233 with a corresponding increase to contributed 
surplus for $1,829 in the period. 

• During year ended December 31, 2014, the Company issued 113,991 shares for a total of 
$250 related to the settlement of deferred share units exercised by former members of the 
Board of Directors.    
 

• During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company issued 20,000 common shares for a 
total of $24 in exchange for Class D partnership units of IBI Group which had been issued in a 
prior year for the acquisition of one of its subsidiaries. This resulted in a reduction of non-
controlling interest by $301 with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus for $277 in 
the period. 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss  

• During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company incurred a loss of $0.2 million 
related to the translation of financial statements of foreign operations from continuing 
operations, of which 78.2% is attributable to common shareholders. 

Transactions with related parties 

Pursuant to the Administration Agreement entered into in connection with the closing of the initial public 
offering of the Company’s predecessor, the Fund, IBI Group and certain of its subsidiaries are paying to 
the Management Partnership an amount representing the base compensation for the services of the 
principals of the partners of the Management Partnership. The amount paid for such services during the 
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year ended December 31, 2014 was $26.1 million (year ended December 31, 2013 - $28.4 million). As at 
December 31, 2014 there were 98 partners (December 31, 2014 – 101 partners).  

IBI Group from time to time makes a monthly distribution to each Class B partnership unitholder equal to 
the dividend per share (on a pre-tax basis) declared to each shareholder. All of the Class B partnership 
units are held by the Management Partnership. As at December 31, 2014 and 2013 the amount of 
distributions payable to the Management Partnership were nil.  

During the first quarter of 2010, the Management Partnership advanced $26.0 million to IBI Group. The 
loan bears interest at the same rate as the operating line of credit that IBI Group has with its bank lender, 
less any commitment fees payable to its bank lender. The loan is subordinated to the Company’s credit 
facilities with its bank lender and is unsecured.  As at December 31, 2014, the remaining amount payable 
was $10.0 million (December 31, 2013 - $10.0 million). Interest expense on this advance was $0.4 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2014 (2013 - $0.4 million). The loan matures April 1, 2015 with no 
repayment prior to the maturity of the credit facility unless the Company achieves certain financial 
covenants. Subsequent to year end, the Partnership and Board of Directors approved a plan to convert 
the Principal outstanding into common shares of IBI. 

As noted in Note 18 – Discontinued Operations of the audited consolidated financial statements, on 
October 2, 2014, Daniel Arbour, who previously led IBI Group’s operations in China, acquired a 19% 
equity interest in IBI China Holdings Limited.  

Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

The preparation of the audited consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 
management to exercise judgment and make estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies on reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses for the period 
covered by the consolidated financial statements. Actual amounts may differ from these estimates. 

Within the context of the consolidated financial statements, a judgment is a decision made by 
management in respect of the application of an accounting policy, a recognized or unrecognized financial 
statement amount and/or note disclosure, following an analysis of relevant information that may include 
estimates and assumptions. Estimates and assumptions are used mainly in determining the 
measurement of balances recognized or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and are based 
on a set of underlying data that may include management’s historical experience, knowledge of current 
events and conditions and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  
Management continually evaluates the estimates and judgments it uses. 

Information about judgments made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant impact 
on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:  

Liquidity 

IBI Group’s credit facilities (“Credit Facilities”) will need to be renewed or refinanced no later than March 
31, 2016.  The Company is putting together a plan to support an extension or refinancing alternative, 
which is subject to approval from their lenders acting reasonably.  There can be no assurance that the 
Credit Facilities will be renewed or that future borrowings will be available to IBI Group, or available on 
acceptable terms, in an amount sufficient to find IBI’s needs, which would have a negative impact on IBI’s 
business and financial condition.  
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Revenue Recognition 

The Company also enters into contracts that require multiple deliverables, which can include software 
and hardware elements. Management applies judgment when assessing whether certain deliverables in a 
customer arrangement should be included or excluded from a unit of account to which contract 
accounting is applied. The judgment is typically related to the sale and inclusion of third party hardware 
and licenses in a customer arrangement, and involves an assessment that principally addresses whether 
the deliverable has stand-alone value to the customer that is not dependent upon other components of 
the arrangement. 

Recoverability of accounts receivable 

The Company records accounts receivable net of impairment losses due to its inability to collect on its 
trade receivables. The Company uses specific factors to determine the estimated losses that are based 
on the age of the outstanding receivables and on its historical collection and loss experience. 

Valuation of goodwill and intangible assets   

The Company performs impairment testing on its long-lived assets annually for goodwill and intangible 
assets, and when circumstances indicate that there may be impairment, for other long-lived assets. 
Management judgment is involved in determining if there are circumstances indicating that testing for 
impairment is required, and in determining the grouping of assets to identify Cash Generating Units 
(“CGU”) for the purpose of impairment testing.  

Impairment exists when the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which 
is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell or its value in use. Fair value less costs to sell is based on 
either available data from sales transactions in an arm’s-length transaction of similar assets, or on 
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. In the absence of such data, 
other valuation techniques can be used to estimate fair value less costs to sell. The fair value calculation 
is based on a multiple of earnings approach, which is the same as the Company uses in determined the 
fair value of its acquired entities. The calculation is most sensitive to the projected future earnings of the 
CGUs and the selected earnings multiple. Other significant estimates and assumptions include future 
working capital requirements.  

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant impact on the amounts 
recognized in the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2014 are 
as follows:  

Revenue Recognition 

The Company accounts for certain of its revenue in accordance with IAS 11 Construction Contracts, (“IAS 
11”) which requires estimates to be made for contract costs and revenues and IAS 18 Revenue (“IAS 
18”). Revenue from fixed-fee and variable-fee-with-ceiling contracts is recognized using the percentage of 
completion method based on the ratio of professional costs incurred to total estimated professional costs. 
Estimating total professional costs is subjective and requires the use of management’s best estimate 
based on the information available at that point in time. The Company also provides for estimated losses 
on incomplete contracts in the period in which such losses are determined. Changes in the estimates are 
reflected in the period in which they are made and would affect the Company’s revenue and work in 
process. 
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Valuation of work in process and deferred revenue 

The Company records its work in process based on the time and materials charged into each project. The 
work in process for each project is reviewed on a monthly basis to determine whether the amounts 
recorded are recoverable. Where the review determines that the value of work in process exceeds the 
amount that can be invoiced, provisions are made to the work in process and revenue is reduced. The 
valuation of the work in process involves estimates of the professional costs to be incurred to complete 
the project.   

The Company records its deferred revenue based on projects for which billings exceed work in process. 
Estimating total direct labour costs is subjective and requires the use of management’s best estimate 
based on the information available at that point in time. The Company also provides for estimated losses 
on incomplete contracts in the period in which such losses are determined. Changes in the estimates are 
reflected in the period in which they are made and would affect the Company’s revenue and deferred 
revenue. 

Onerous lease provisions 

The Company recognizes provisions when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the 
amount can be reliably estimated.  Management has recorded a provision related to lease exit liabilities 
which requires estimation of the expected sublease income and discount rate reflective of the risk profile 
of the obligation. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognized when the underlying contractual obligation is discharged, cancelled or 
expires. As described in note 6(b) of the audited consolidated financial statements, management applied 
judgement in assessing the extinguishment of the liability and equity components of the convertible 
debentures. 

Determining probable future utilization of tax loss carryforwards 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management judgment is 
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based on the likely 
timing and the level of future taxable profits, together with future tax-planning strategies. 

Accounting developments 

a) Changes in Accounting Policies 

IAS 32, Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

In December 2011 the IASB published Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments 
to IAS 32).  The amendments to IAS 32 clarify when an entity has a legally enforceable right to offset, as 
well as when a settlement mechanism provides for net settlement or gross settlement that is equivalent to 
net settlement.  The effective date for the amendments to IAS 32 is annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2014. These amendments are to be applied retrospectively. The adoption of the amendments 
did not have a material impact on the audited consolidated financial statements. 
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IAS 36, Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 

In May 2013, the IASB issued Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (Amendments 
to IAS 36).  The amendment reverses the unintended requirement in IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, 
to disclose the recoverable amounts of all cash generating units to which significant goodwill or indefinite-
life intangible assets have been allocated. Under the amendments, the recoverable amount is required to 
be disclosed only when an impairment loss has been recognized or reversed.  The amendments apply 
retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The adoption of the 
amendments did not have a material impact on the audited consolidated financial statements. 

IFRIC 21, Levies 

Beginning January 1, 2014, the Company adopted International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (“IFRIC”) 21 Levies on a retrospective basis with restatement. This IFRIC is applicable to all 
levies other than outflows that are within the scope of other standards, fines, or penalties for breaches of 
legislation. The interpretation clarifies that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy when the activity that 
triggers payments, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. The adoption of IFRIC 21 did not have 
a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

b) Future Accounting Policy Changes	  

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), with a 
mandatory effective date of January 1, 2018. The new standard brings together the classification and 
measurements, impairment and hedge accounting phases of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. In addition to the new requirements for 
classification and measurement of financial assets, a new general hedge accounting model and other 
amendments issued in previous versions of IFRS 9, the standard also introduces new impairment 
requirements that are based on a forward-looking expected credit loss model. The Company intends to 
adopt IFRS 9 in its consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning January 1, 2018. 
The extent of the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 has not yet been determined. 

Annual Improvements to IFRS (2010 – 2012) and (2011-2013) cycles 

In December 2013, the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to a total of eight standards as part of its 
annual improvements process. The IASB uses the annual improvements process to make non-urgent but 
necessary amendments to IFRS.  

Most amendments will apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014; earlier 
application is permitted, in which case, the related consequential amendments to other IFRSs would also 
apply.  

The Company intends to adopt these amendments in its consolidated financial statements for the annual 
period beginning on January 1, 2015. The extent of the impact of adoption of the amendments has not yet 
been determined. 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 

In December 2014, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, to 
provide guidance on the application of judgment in the preparation of financial statements and 
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disclosures. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016 
with earlier adoption permitted. The extent of the impact of the adoption of the amendments have not yet 
been determined. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

On May 28, 2014 the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”).  The 
new standard is effective for fiscal years ending on or after December 31, 2017 and is available for early 
adoption. 

IFRS 15 will replace IAS 11, IAS 18, IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements for 
the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers, and SIC 31 Revenue – 
Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. 

The Company intends to adopt IFRS 15 in its consolidated financial statements for the annual period 
beginning on January 1, 2017. The extent of the impact of adoption of the standard has not yet been 
determined. 

Disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting 

As required by National Instrument 52-109 of the Canadian Securities Administrators, the Company’s 
Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) will be making certifications related to 
the information contained in the Company’s quarterly filings. As part of certification, the CEO and CFO 
must certify as to the design of disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”) and internal controls over 
financial reporting (“ICFR”). 

DC&P are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the 
Company is processed and reported on a timely basis to the Company’s management, including the CEO 
and CFO, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions with respect to required disclosure.  The Company has 
adopted or formalized such controls as it believes are necessary and consistent with its business and 
internal management and supervisory practices. ICFR is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurances regarding the reliability of the Company’s financial reporting and of the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, 
assurance with respect to the reliability of the financial reporting and of the preparation of the financial 
statements. 

The Company’s CEO and CFO have evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under their supervision, the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and 
procedures as at December 31, 2014, and have concluded that such controls and procedures are 
effective. There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred during the period beginning on January 1, 2014, and ended on December 31, 2014, that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting. On January 1, 2014, the Company adopted the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations new internal control framework, which did not have a material impact on the Company’s 
internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures. 

Definition of non-IFRS measures 

Non-IFRS measures do not have a standardized meaning within IFRS and are therefore unlikely to be 
comparable to additional measures presented by other issuers. In commentary and tables within this 

A-32



 
33 – IBI Group Inc. – December 31, 2014 

 

document IFRS measures are presented along with non-IFRS measures. Where non-IFRS measures are 
used, there is a reconciliation to IFRS amounts provided. Any changes in the definition of non-IFRS are 
disclosed and quantified. 

1. Adjusted EBITDA 

The Company believes that Adjusted EBITDA, defined below, is an important measure for investors to 
understand the Company’s ability to generate cash to honour its obligations. Management of the 
Company believes that in addition to net income (loss), Adjusted EBITDA is a useful supplemental 
measure as it provides readers with an indication of cash available for debt service, capital expenditures, 
income taxes and dividends. Readers should be cautioned, however, that EBITDA should not be 
construed as an alternative to net income (loss) determined in accordance with IFRS as an indicator of 
the Company’s performance or to cash flows from operating activities as a measure of liquidity and cash 
flows. 

The Company defines Adjusted EBITDA in accordance with what is required in its lending agreements 
with its senior lenders.  

References in this MD&A to Adjusted EBITDA are based on net income adjusted for the following items: 

- Gain/loss arising from extraordinary, unusual or non-recurring items, such as debt 
extinguishments. 

- Acquisition costs and deferred consideration revenue (i.e. restructuring costs, integration costs, 
compensation expenses, transaction fees and expenses). 

- Non-cash expenses (i.e. grant of stock options, restricted share units or Capital stock to 
employees as compensation) 

- Gain/Loss realized upon the disposal of capital property. 
- Gain/loss on foreign exchange translation 
- Gain/loss on purchase or redemption of securities issued by that person or any subsidiary. 
- Amounts attributable to minority equity investments 
- Interest income 

Adjusted EBITDA is not a recognized measure under IFRS and does not have a standardized meaning 
prescribed by IFRS, and the Company’s method of calculating Adjusted EBITDA may differ from the 
methods used by other similar entities. Accordingly, Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similar 
measures used by such entities. Reconciliations of net income (loss) to adjusted EBITDA have been 
provided under the headings “Results of Operations”. 

2. Working capital measured in Number of Days of Gross Billings 

 
Included in working capital of the Company are amounts reflecting project costs and sub-consultant 
expenses. The Company only reports its net fee volume as revenue, which would not include the billings 
for the recovery of these incurred costs. Therefore to measure number of days outstanding of working 
capital, the gross billings, which include the billings for recovery of project expenses, would result in a 
more consistent calculation. 

IB
I 

G
R

O
U

P
 2

0
14

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

 2
0

14
 F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L

S

A-33



 
34 – IBI Group Inc. – December 31, 2014 

 

The information included is calculated based on working days on a twelve month trailing basis, measured 
as days outstanding on gross billings, which over the last two years has been approximately 25% greater 
than net fee volume. 

The Company believes that informing investors of its progress in managing its accounts receivable, work-
in-process and deferred revenue is important for investors to anticipate cash flows from the business and 
to compare the Company with other businesses that operate in the same industry. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Shareholders of IBI Group Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of IBI Group Inc., which comprise the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, cash flows and changes in equity for the years then ended, and notes, 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of IBI Group Inc. as at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, and its consolidated financial performance 
and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants  
Toronto, Canada  
March 19, 2015 



See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
2 

 

IBI GROUP INC. 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
 

 (thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 
    
Assets    
Current Assets    

Cash  6  $ 10,342  $ 8,066 
Accounts receivable 6,12   106,451   104,791 
Work in process 5   85,371   93,082 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    9,460   8,990 
Income taxes recoverable 9   806   1,880 

Total Current Assets   $ 212,430  $ 216,809 
    

Other assets                             1,139                                   - 
Property and equipment  7   12,780   6,559 
Investment in equity accounted investee     20   817   - 

      Intangible assets 8   5,317   4,672 
Deferred tax assets 9   19,580   14,221 

Total Assets   $ 252,063  $ 242,261 
    
Liabilities and Equity    
Liabilities    
Current Liabilities    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  12   57,449   43,733 
     Deferred revenue   5   28,002   13,791 
     Vendor notes payable  19   5,013   5,381 
     Income taxes payable  9   1,397   470 
     Finance lease obligation     12                               693                                   - 
     Credit facilities 6                          10,000                                   - 
     Onerous lease provisions     18   687                            - 
     Due to related parties     10                          10,000                                   - 
     Convertible debentures 6   -   44,831 
Total Current Liabilities   $ 113,241  $ 108,206 
    

Onerous lease provisions 18                            4,051                                  - 
Due to related parties 10                            -                         10,000 
Consent fee notes payable 19   2,631                           - 
Finance lease obligation 12                               235                                                           - 
Credit Facilities 6                          63,423                          85,479 
Convertible debentures 6   98,437   71,929 
Deferred tax liabilities 9   8,690   2,016 

Total Liabilities   $ 290,708  $ 277,630 
    
Equity    
Shareholders’ Equity    

Share capital 11   235,036   234,358 
Contributed surplus 11                            2,106                                 - 
Deficit                         (279,546)   (277,088) 
Convertible debentures – equity component 6   5,852   5,852 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (3,398)   (3,114) 

Total Shareholders’ Equity   $  (39,950)  $ (39,992) 
Non-controlling interest 11   1,305   4,623 

Total Equity   $               (38,645)  $ (35,369) 
Total Liabilities and Equity   $   252,063  $ 242,261 
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IBI GROUP INC. 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss 
 

   Year ended December 31, 

(thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts) Notes     2014  2013 
   (restated – Note 18) 
    

Revenue   $ 298,274  $ 257,386 
    
Salaries, fees and employee benefits    212,180   214,158 
Rent   14,18   26,848   20,058 
Other operating expenses    38,837   36,494 
Foreign exchange gain    (2,089)   (418) 
Amortization of intangible assets     8   819   5,397 
Amortization of property and equipment    7   2,669   1,937 
Impairment of property and equipment    7,18                         3,248                                 - 
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets   8   -   174,297 
Impairment of financial assets 12   2,812   13,545 

    285,324   465,467 
Operating Income (Loss)   $ 12,950  $ (208,080) 
     

Interest expense, net 12,15   18,693   14,222 
Other finance (income) costs  15   (14,585)   631 

Finance Costs   $ 4,108  $ 14,853 
   

                            81                                                       
                                 

Share of loss of equity accounted investee, net of tax                                                              20                                                                      - 
Net Income (Loss) before tax from continuing operations   $ 8,761  $ (222,933) 

    
Current tax expense (recovery) 9   1,540   (111) 
Deferred tax expense (recovery) 9   1,302   (12,924) 

Income Taxes   $ 2,842  $ (13,035) 
    
     Net income (loss) from continuing operations                         5,919                     (209,898) 
     Net loss from discontinued operations          18                                                (9,079)                       (13,570)          
Net Loss   $  (3,160)  $    (223,468) 
    
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)    
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss    

Income (Loss) on translating financial statements of foreign  
operations from continuing operations, net of tax of nil    (366)   2,156 

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax                            (366)                         2,156 
Total Comprehensive Loss    $               (3,526)   $ (221,312) 
    
Net Loss Attributable to:    

Common shareholders   $               (2,458)  $ (172,819) 
Non-controlling interests 11                            (702)     (50,649) 

Net Loss    $               (3,160)    $ (223,468) 
     
Total Comprehensive Loss Attributable to:    

Common shareholders   $               (2,742)     $ (171,151) 
Non-controlling interests 11                     (784)     (50,161) 

Total Comprehensive  Loss  $                     (3,526)    $ (221,312) 
     
Earnings (Loss) per Share    

Basic and diluted loss per share  11  $  (0.14)  $ (10.05) 
Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing    
    operations 11        $                   0.26        $               (9.44) 
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations 11        $                   0.20        $               (9.44) 
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IBI GROUP INC. 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 

   Year ended December 31, 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes     2014     2013 
       
Cash Flows provided by Operating Activities       

Net loss   $        (3,160)  $ (223,468) 
    

Items not affecting cash:    
Gain on extinguishment of 7.0% convertible debentures     6                   (22,028)                          - 
Loss on issuance of consent fee notes payable   6,19                       2,473                                                        -  
Onerous lease provision   18                        4,738                          - 
Amortization of property and equipment     7                       2,669                           3,410 
Impairment of property and equipment                                                                    7,18                       3,248                                               - 
Amortization of intangible assets   8          819   5,766 
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets   8                         -   180,501 
Amortization of deferred financing costs  6             3,803   402 
Share of loss of equity-accounted investee, net of tax 20                           81                          - 
Impairment on remeasurement of discontinued operations 18 6,981  - 
Cumulative translation adjustment on discontinued operations 18 438  
Interest expense, net 15           18,693   14,728 
Deferred income taxes   9   1,302   (12,924) 
Change in fair value of financial instruments 16                   (393)   (209) 
Adjustment to notes payable 19   -   (992) 

Interest paid               (14,362)   (12,581) 
Income taxes paid                    (996)   (1,070) 
Change in non-cash operating working capital 13    22,642    56,061 

Net Cash provided by Operating Activities   $ 26,948   $ 9,624 
    
Cash Flows (used in) provided by Financing Activities    

Payments on principal of notes payable 16   (795)   (4,985) 
Borrowings from (repayments of) credit facilities    (17,514)   10,182 
Dividends paid to shareholders 11   -   (2,316) 
Distributions paid to non-controlling interest 11   -   (2,010) 

Net Cash (used in) provided by Financing Activities   $ (18,309)  $ 871 
    
Cash Flows (used in) provided by Investing Activities    

Purchase of property and equipment   7   (13,566)   (1,931) 
Disposal of discontinued operations, net of cash held in escrow 18   9,082   - 

Net Cash used in Investing Activities   $ (4,484)  $ (1,931) 
      

Effect of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 12   (1,879)    (498) 
Net increase in Cash    $ 2,276  $ 8,066 
     
Cash, beginning of period    8,066   - 
Cash, End of Period    $ 10,342  $ 8,066 
    
Net cash is comprised of: 
Cash from continuing operations, end of period                               $            10,261      $ 8,081 
Cash from discontinued operations, end of period     81   371 
Cash, End of Period    $ 10,342  $ 8,066 
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IBI GROUP INC. 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
 

   Year ended December 31, 
(thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes   2014   2013 
    

Share Capital     
Share capital, beginning of period   $ 234,358  $ 231,706 
Shares issued  11   678   2,652 

Share Capital, End of Period   $ 235,036  $ 234,358 
    

Contributed Surplus     
  Contributed surplus, beginning of period                      -                     - 

Shares issued     2,106   - 
Contributed Surplus, End of Period      $          2,106  $ - 
 
Deficit     

Deficit, beginning of period     (277,088)    (102,539) 
Net loss attributable to common shareholders                (2,458)      (172,819) 
Dividends declared to common shareholders    -   (2,316) 
Shares issued on notes payable    -   586 

Deficit, End of Period       $     (279,546))  $ (277,088) 
                      

Convertible Debentures - Equity Component    
Convertible debentures, beginning of period 6(b)   5,852   5,852 

Convertible Debentures, End of Period   $ 5,852  $ 5,852 
    

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss    
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, beginning of period    (3,114)   (4,782) 
Other comprehensive (loss) income attributable to  common 
shareholders               (284)    1,668 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss, End of Period   $       (3,398)   $ (3,114) 
    

Total Shareholders' Equity   $ (39,950)  $ (39,992) 
    

Non-controlling Interest    
Non-controlling interest, beginning of period    4,623   52,920 
Total comprehensive loss attributable to                      

11              (784)   (50,161)     non-controlling interests 
Distributions    -   (670) 
Reclassification of shares issued for notes payable       2,534 
Conversion of partnership units                                                       11    (2,534)             - 

Non-controlling Interest, End of Period       $         1,305  $ 4,623 
    

Total Equity, End of Period      $      (38,645)   $ (35,369) 
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NOTE 1: ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 

IBI Group Inc. (the “Company”) is a company incorporated pursuant to the provisions of the Canada 
Business Corporations Act (the “CBCA”) on September 30, 2010 and is the successor to IBI Income 
Fund (the “Fund”), an unincorporated, open-ended limited purpose trust established under the laws of 
Ontario.  

The Fund was created on July 23, 2004, to indirectly acquire the outstanding Class A partnership units 
of IBI Group Partnership (“IBI Group”), a general partnership formed and carrying on business under 
the laws of the Province of Ontario. As at December 31, 2014, the Company’s common share capital 
consisted of 17,808,484 issued and outstanding shares. Each share entitles the holder to one vote at 
all meetings of shareholders.  

IBI Group also issued Class B partnership units to IBI Group Management Partnership (the 
“Management Partnership”), the entity that carried on the operations of the Fund prior to its acquisition 
by the Fund. The Class B partnership units of IBI Group are indirectly exchangeable for shares on the 
basis of one share of the Company for each Class B subordinated partnership unit. Class B 
partnership units do not entitle the holder to voting rights at the meetings of shareholders of the 
Company.  

As at December 31, 2014, the Management Partnership holds 5,025,778 Class B partnership units 
representing 22.0% of the issued and outstanding units of IBI Group and, with affiliated partnerships, 
3,850,206 common shares of the Company, representing a total ownership of approximately 39.0% of 
the Company. The Management Partnership also holds 5,025,778 non-participating voting shares of 
the Company, which together with the 3,850,206 common shares of the Company held by the 
Management Partnership and affiliated partnerships, represents approximately 39.8% of the voting 
shares of the Company. 

Through IBI Group, the Company is an international, multi-disciplinary provider of a broad range of 
professional services focused on the physical development of cities. IBI Group's business is 
concentrated in three main areas of development, being intelligence, buildings and infrastructure. The 
professional services provided by IBI Group include planning, design, implementation, analysis of 
operations and other consulting services related to these three main areas of development.   

The common shares of the Company are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol 
“IBG”. The Company’s registered head office is 55 St. Clair Ave. West, 7th Floor, Toronto, Ontario, 
M5V 2Y7.  
  

NOTE 2: BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 

(a) Statement of Compliance  

These consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “consolidated 
group”) have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  
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The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Company’s Board of 
Directors on March 18, 2015. 

(b) Basis of measurement 

These consolidated financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis. Amounts are 
recorded under the historical cost convention, except for certain financial liabilities measured at fair 
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), as described in Note 3(i). 

(c) Basis of consolidation 

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Company has control. An investor controls an investee when 
the investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. The financial statements of 
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that effective control 
commences and are de-consolidated from the date control ceases. 

Joint arrangements 

The Company performs the majority of its construction projects through wholly owned subsidiary 
entities, which are fully consolidated.  However, a number of projects, particularly some larger, multi-
year, multi-disciplined projected, are executed through partnering agreements. As such, the 
classification of these entities as a subsidiary, joint operation, joint venture or associate required 
judgment by management to analyze the various indicators that determine whether control exists.  In 
particular, when assessing whether a joint arrangement should be classified as either a joint operation 
or a joint venture, management considers the contractual rights and obligations, voting shares, share 
of board members and the legal structure of the joint arrangement.  Subject to reviewing and 
assessing all the facts and circumstances of each joint arrangement, joint arrangements contracted 
through agreements and general partnerships would generally be classified as joint operations 
whereas joint arrangements contracted through corporations would be classified as joint ventures.  All 
current partnering arrangements are classified as joint operations. 

The Company recognizes its proportionate ownership in relation to its joint operations in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Transactions, balances, income and expenses incurred within the consolidated group are eliminated in 
full on consolidation. 
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Non-controlling interest 

Non-controlling interest in IBI Group is exchangeable into common shares of the Company. Changes 
in the equity of IBI Group and distributions to the non-controlling interest are recorded in non-
controlling interest.   

(d) Functional and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the Company and its Canadian subsidiaries, including IBI 
Group, operate (the “functional currency”). 

Each of the Company’s subsidiaries determines its functional currency, and items included in the 
financial statements of each subsidiary are measured using that functional currency. The Company’s 
foreign operations are translated into its reporting currency (Canadian dollar) as follows: assets and 
liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange in effect at the date of each consolidated statement of 
financial position, and items of revenues and expenses are translated at the average rate of exchange 
for the period. The resulting unrealized exchange gains and losses on foreign subsidiaries are 
recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the respective entity at 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses on such 
transactions, as well as from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities not denominated in the 
functional currency of the respective entity, are recorded in earnings in the year in which they occur. 

On disposal, or partial disposal, of a foreign entity, or repatriation of the net investment in a foreign 
entity, resulting in a loss of control, significant influence or joint control, the cumulative translation 
account balance recognized in equity relating to that particular foreign entity is recognized in profit or 
loss as part of the gain or loss on sale. On a partial disposition of a subsidiary that does not result in a 
loss of control, the amounts are reallocated to the non-controlling interest in the foreign operation 
based on their proportionate share of the cumulative amounts recognized in AOCI. On partial 
dispositions of jointly controlled foreign entities or associates, the proportionate share of translation 
differences previously recognized in AOCI is reclassified to profit or loss. 

References to “$” in these consolidated financial statements denote Canadian dollars and references 
to “US$” are to U.S. dollars.  

All amounts presented in Canadian dollars have been rounded to the nearest thousand.  

(e) Use of accounting estimates and judgments 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 
management to exercise judgment and make estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies on reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent liabilities at 
the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses for the period 
covered by the consolidated financial statements. Actual amounts may differ from these estimates. 
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Within the context of these consolidated financial statements, a judgment is a decision made by 
management in respect of the application of an accounting policy, a recognized or unrecognized 
financial statement amount and/or note disclosure, following an analysis of relevant information that 
may include estimates and assumptions. Estimates and assumptions are used mainly in determining 
the measurement of balances recognized or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and are 
based on a set of underlying data that may include management’s historical experience, knowledge of 
current events and conditions and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Management continually evaluates the estimates and judgments it uses. 

Information about judgments made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant 
impact on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:  

Liquidity 

IBI Group’s swing facility and credit facility (the “Credit Facilities”) will need to be renewed or 
refinanced no later than March 31, 2016.  The Company is putting together a plan to support an 
extension or refinancing alternative, which is subject to approval from their lenders acting reasonably. 
Although the Company believes that it can negotiate an extension or renewal of the Credit Facilities or 
obtain replacement financing prior the expiration of the Credit Facilities, there can be no assurance 
that the Credit Facilities will be extended or renewed or that future borrowings will be available to IBI 
Group, or available on acceptable terms, in an amount sufficient to meet the Company’s financing 
requirements at that time.  If such an extension or renewal or future borrowings were not available, or 
not available on acceptable terms, it would have a material adverse impact on the Company’s 
business and financial condition. 

Revenue Recognition 

The Company also enters into contracts that require multiple deliverables, which can include software 
and hardware elements. Management applies judgment when assessing whether certain deliverables 
in a customer arrangement should be included or excluded from a unit of account to which contract 
accounting is applied. The judgment is typically related to the sale and inclusion of third party 
hardware and licenses in a customer arrangement, and involves an assessment that principally 
addresses whether the deliverable has stand-alone value to the customer that is not dependent upon 
other components of the arrangement. 

Recoverability of accounts receivable 

The Company records accounts receivable net of impairment losses due to its inability to collect on its 
trade receivables. The Company uses specific factors to determine the estimated losses that are 
based on the age of the outstanding receivables and on its historical collection and loss experience. 

Valuation of goodwill and definite life intangible assets   

The Company performs impairment testing on its long-lived assets annually for goodwill and intangible 
assets, and when circumstances indicate that there may be impairment, for other long-lived assets. 
Management judgment is involved in determining if there are circumstances indicating that testing for 
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impairment is required, and in determining the grouping of assets to identify Cash Generating Units 
(“CGU”) for the purpose of impairment testing.  

Impairment exists when the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, 
which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell or its value in use. Fair value less costs to sell is 
based on either available data from sales transactions in an arm’s-length transaction of similar assets, 
or on observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. In the absence of 
such data, other valuation techniques can be used to estimate fair value less costs to sell. The fair 
value calculation is based on a multiple of earnings approach, which is the same as the Company 
uses in determining the fair value of its acquired entities. The calculation is most sensitive to the 
projected future earnings of the CGUs and the selected earnings multiple. Other significant estimates 
and assumptions include future working capital requirements.  

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant impact on the 
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2014 
are as follows:  

Revenue Recognition 

The Company accounts for certain of its revenue in accordance with IAS 11 Construction Contracts, 
(“IAS 11”) which requires estimates to be made for contract costs and revenues and IAS 18 Revenue 
(“IAS 18”). Revenue from fixed-fee and variable-fee-with-ceiling contracts is recognized using the 
percentage of completion method based on the ratio of professional costs incurred to total estimated 
professional costs. Estimating total professional costs is subjective and requires the use of 
management’s best estimate based on the information available at that point in time. The Company 
also provides for estimated losses on incomplete contracts in the period in which such losses are 
determined. Changes in the estimates are reflected in the period in which they are made and would 
affect the Company’s revenue and work in process. 

Valuation of work in process and deferred revenue 

The Company records its work in process based on the time and materials charged into each project. 
The work in process for each project is reviewed on a monthly basis to determine whether the 
amounts recorded are recoverable. Where the review determines that the value of work in process 
exceeds the amount that can be invoiced, provisions are made to the work in process and revenue is 
reduced. The valuation of the work in process involves estimates of the professional costs to be 
incurred to complete the project.   

The Company records its deferred revenue based on projects for which billings exceed work in 
process. Estimating total direct labour costs is subjective and requires the use of management’s best 
estimate based on the information available at that point in time. The Company also provides for 
estimated losses on incomplete contracts in the period in which such losses are determined. Changes 
in the estimates are reflected in the period in which they are made and would affect the Company’s 
revenue and deferred revenue. 
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Onerous lease provisions 

The Company recognizes provisions when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, 
and the amount can be reliably estimated.  Management has recorded a provision related to lease exit 
liabilities which requires estimation of the expected sublease income and discount rate reflective of the 
risk profile of the obligation. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognized when the underlying contractual obligation is discharged, cancelled 
or expires. Derecognition accounting is applied when certain criteria are met and as described in note 
6, management applied judgement in assessing the criteria that lead to accounting for the change in 
terms of the convertible debentures and credit facility as an extinguishment of the liability. 

Determining probable future utilization of tax loss carryforwards 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management 
judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based on 
the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits, together with future tax-planning strategies. 

NOTE 3: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Unless otherwise indicated, the significant accounting policies followed by the Company set out below 
have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.  

 
a) Revenue recognition  

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received.  

Revenue from fixed-fee and variable-fee-with-ceiling contracts is recognized by reference to the stage 
of completion using the cost approach. Stage of completion is measured by reference to professional 
costs incurred to date as a percentage of total professional costs for each contract. Where the contract 
outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognized only to the extent that the expenses 
incurred are eligible to be recovered. Revenue from time-and-material contracts without stated ceilings 
and from short-term projects, is recognized as costs are incurred. Revenue is calculated based on 
billing rates recoverable under the contract for the services performed.  

Provisions for estimated losses on incomplete contracts are made in the period in which the losses are 
determined. The effect of revisions to estimated revenues and costs is recorded when the amounts 
are known or can be reasonably estimated. Where total contract costs exceed, or are expected to 
exceed, revenues, the anticipated loss is immediately recognized as an expense.  

Accounts receivable is valued at amortized cost net of allowances for impairment losses (refer to note 
3(i) for further discussion on financial instruments).  

IB
I 

G
R

O
U

P
 2

0
14

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

 2
0

14
 F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L

S

B-11



 

 

IBI GROUP INC. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

12 
 

 

The Company's software license agreements are multiple-element arrangements as they may also 
include maintenance, professional services and hardware. Multiple-element arrangements are 
recognized as the revenue for each unit of accounting is earned based on the relative fair value of 
each unit of accounting as determined by an internal analysis of prices. A delivered element is 
considered a separate unit of accounting if it has value to the customer on a standalone basis, and 
delivery or performance of the undelivered elements is considered probable and substantially under 
the Company's control. If these criteria are not met, revenue for the arrangement as a whole is 
accounted for as a single unit of accounting. 

b) Work in process and deferred revenue 

Work in process represents the fee revenue and recoverable disbursements which have not been 
billed but are expected to be billed and collected from clients for contract work performed to date, and 
is valued at estimated net realizable value.  

Billings in excess of time value incurred on jobs in progress, for which future services will be provided, 
are included in deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

An allowance account is also maintained on work in process, measured by the estimated amount of 
unbilled professional costs that are expected not to be billed. When work in process is determined not 
recoverable, the amount is written off in the reserve for work in process.  

c) Cash 

Cash is comprised of cash on hand. Cash balances, which the Company has the ability and intent to 
offset, are used to reduce reported bank indebtedness. 

d) Property and equipment 

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation, net of 
accumulated impairment losses, and amortized over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Asset  Basis Rate 
   

Office furniture and equipment Diminishing balance 20% 
EDP equipment Straight line 2 years 
Vehicles Diminishing balance 20% 
Leasehold improvements Straight line Term of lease 

   
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each annual reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate. 

The cost of repairs and maintenance of property and equipment are expensed as incurred and 
recognized in net loss. 
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e) Goodwill and Intangible assets 

Goodwill 

Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds 
the sum of the amounts allocated to all other assets acquired, less liabilities assumed, based on their 
fair values at the date of acquisition. 

Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently, if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses (refer to note 3(f) for impairment discussion). 

When the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the fair value of goodwill, an impairment loss is 
recognized in the amount equal to the excess, and is presented as a charge in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive loss.  

Other intangible assets 
 
Other intangible assets are initially recorded at fair value at their acquisition date and stated at cost 
less accumulated amortization and net impairment losses, where applicable. The cost of other 
intangible assets with determinable lives is amortized over the period in which the benefits of such 
assets are expected to be realized as follows: 

Asset  Basis Amortization period 
   

Customer relationships Straight line 8-10 years 
Contracts backlog Straight line 1-2 years 
Non-competition provisions Straight line 3-4 years 

   
 

f) Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Company evaluates the recoverability of property and equipment and intangible assets with 
determinable lives for impairment at the end of each reporting period. If there are indicators of 
impairment, a review is undertaken to determine whether the carrying amounts are in excess of their 
recoverable amounts. 

The Company evaluates the recoverability of intangible assets with non-determinable lives and 
goodwill on an annual basis or when events or a change in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which an asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The determination of recoverable amount is based 
on the higher of value in use or fair value less costs to sell.  

For the purposes of assessing impairment where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount 
of an individual asset, the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs is estimated. A 
CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets for which there are separately identifiable cash 
inflows.  
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The grouping of CGUs for the purpose of testing goodwill impairment cannot be tested at a level 
higher than the operating segment. 

The carrying amount of a CGU includes the carrying amount of only those assets that can be 
attributed directly, or allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis, and are expected to generate 
the future cash inflows.  

An impairment loss is recognized as a charge in comprehensive loss when a CGU's carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The carrying amount of the CGU is reduced first, by the carrying 
amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then on a pro rata basis to the carrying amount of 
the other assets in the CGU. 

For property and equipment and intangible assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying value does not exceed the carrying value that would have 
been determined, net of amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized.  An impairment loss 
recognized for goodwill is not reversed. 

g) Income taxes 

Income tax expense consists of current tax charge and the change in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities. Current tax and deferred tax is recognized in comprehensive loss except to the extent that it 
relates to a business combination, or to items recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive 
loss.  

Current tax represents the current tax payable (receivable) on the taxable income (loss) for the period, 
calculated in accordance with the rates and legislation of the respective tax jurisdiction in which the 
Company operated, enacted or substantively enacted as at the date of the statement of financial 
position; it also reflects any adjustment resulting from new information to taxes payable (recoverable) 
in respect of previous years.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized in respect of the expected income tax consequences 
attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying values of existing assets 
and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position and their respective income tax bases. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted, or substantively enacted, tax rates 
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to 
be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is 
recognized in comprehensive loss in the period that includes the date of enactment or of substantive 
enactment of the future tax rates.   

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits, and deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are evaluated at each reporting period and are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can 
be utilized.   
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h) Share-based compensation 

The Company operates a share-based compensation plan (“Deferred Share Plan”) which allows 
directors to receive director fees in the form of deferred shares rather than cash. These awards are 
accounted for as liabilities at FVTPL. On the grant date, the deferred shares are measured at fair 
value based on the market price with subsequent changes to the fair value recorded as salaries, fees 
and employee benefit expenses until settled. 

i) Financial instruments 

All financial assets and financial liabilities are required to be classified into one of the following 
categories: 

 Financial assets are classified as either FVTPL, available-for-sale, held-to-maturity investments or 
loans and receivables; and  

 Financial liabilities are classified as either FVTPL or other liabilities.  

All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value plus directly attributable 
transaction costs, except for financial assets at FVTPL, for which transaction costs are expensed. 
Purchases or sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade dates. All financial liabilities are 
recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable 
transaction costs.   

The table below summarizes the classification and subsequent measurement of the Company’s 
financial assets and liabilities: 

 
Asset  Classification Measurement 

   
Financial Assets   

Cash  FVTPL    Fair value 
Accounts receivable Loans and receivables Amortized cost 
   

Financial liabilities   
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other liabilities Amortized cost 
Deferred share plan liability1 FVTPL    Fair value 
Due to related parties Other liabilities Amortized cost 
Notes payable Other liabilities Amortized cost 
Distributions payable Other liabilities Amortized cost 

    Credit facilities Other liabilities Amortized cost 
Convertible debentures – debt instrument Other liabilities Amortized cost 
   

 
 

                                                 
1 The deferred share plan liability is grouped with accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial 
position. See Note 16 – Deferred Share Plan, for further discussion. 
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Financial assets at FVTPL 

At the end of each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at FVTPL are 
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized directly in the statement of 
comprehensive loss in the period in which they arise.  

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities 
greater than 12 months after the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. After their 
initial fair value measurement, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method, net of allowance for impairment losses.  

Impairment 

The Company’s policy is to assess at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.   

The Company maintains an allowance for impairment losses on accounts receivable. The estimate is 
based on the best assessment of the collectability of the related receivable balance, based in part, on 
the age of the outstanding receivables and in part on the Company’s historical collection and loss 
experience. When the carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through the allowance, the 
reduction is recognized in impairment of financial assets in the statement of comprehensive loss.  

Subsequent recoveries of the amounts previously written off are charged against the allowance 
account and recognized as income in the statement of comprehensive loss. 

Financial liabilities and equity 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity (in accordance with 
the substance of the contractual arrangement). An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a 
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued 
are recorded net of direct issue costs. 

Debt securities issued and other liabilities are recognized at fair value on the date that they originated. 
Other financial liabilities are recognized initially on the trade date at which the Company becomes 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial liabilities are classified as either 
financial liabilities at FVTPL or as other liabilities. 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL 

At the end of each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at FVTPL are 
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized directly in the statement of 
comprehensive loss in the period in which they arise.  
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Other financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value, net of any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are carried at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method.  

Effective interest method 

The effective interest method calculates the amortized cost of a financial instrument and allocates 
interest income or expense over the corresponding period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
discounts estimated future cash flows over the expected life of the financial instrument to the net 
carrying amount of the financial liability on initial recognition.    

Compound financial instruments 

Compound financial instruments issued by the Company comprise convertible debentures that can be 
converted into share capital at the option of the holder. The liability component of a compound 
financial instrument is measured initially at fair value, calculated as the net present value of the liability 
without a conversion option and using a discount rate reflective of a liability instrument without a 
conversion factor. The equity component is recognized initially at the difference between the fair value 
of the compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of the liability component. Any 
directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion 
to their initial carrying amounts.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument is 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The equity component of a compound 
financial instrument is not remeasured subsequent to initial recognition. 

Derecognition of financial instruments 

A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or 
when the Company transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets.  Any interest in transferred assets 
that are created or retained by the Company is recognized as a separate asset or liability. 

A financial liability is derecognized when the underlying contractual obligation is legally discharged, 
cancelled or expires. 

j) Leases 

The substance of the transaction at inception of the lease determines whether the lease is classified 
as operating or finance. Any modification to the terms of a lease requires reassessment by the 
Company of the classification of the lease.  

Operating lease 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor 
are classified as operating leases. Payments under an operating lease, net of any incentives received 
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from the lessor, are recognized as rent in the statement of comprehensive loss on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease. 

Finance lease 

Leases in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the Company 
are classified as finance leases. Assets meeting finance lease criteria are capitalized at the lower of 
the present value of the related lease payments or the fair value of the leased asset at the inception of 
the lease and amortized over the term of the lease. Minimum lease payments are apportioned 
between the finance charge and the liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the 
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. 

k) Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present  legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of past events, it is probable  that an outflow of resources  will be  required  to  settle  the  
obligation,  and  the  amount  can  be  reliably estimated. 

Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses. Provisions are measured at the present 
value of the expected expenditures to settle the obligation using a discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase 
in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as an interest expense. All provisions are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.  

Onerous contracts 

The Company’s onerous contracts consist of lease exit liabilities. The Company accrues charges 
when it ceases to use office space under an operating lease arrangement.  Included in the liability is 
the present value of the remaining lease payments, less the recovery of the tenant improvement 
allowance and the present value of the expected future sublease income.   

NOTE 4: CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES ADOPTED AND NOT YET ADOPTED 

a) Changes in Accounting Policies 

IAS 32, Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

In December 2011 the IASB published Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
(Amendments to IAS 32). The amendments to IAS 32 clarify when an entity has a legally enforceable 
right to offset, as well as when a settlement mechanism provides for net settlement or gross 
settlement that is equivalent to net settlement. The effective date for the amendments to IAS 32 is 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. These amendments are to be applied 
retrospectively. The adoption of the amendments did not have a material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements. 
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IAS 36, Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 

In May 2013, the IASB issued Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 
(Amendments to IAS 36). The amendment reverses the unintended requirement in IFRS 13 Fair 
Value Measurement, to disclose the recoverable amounts of all cash generating units to which 
significant goodwill or indefinite-life intangible assets have been allocated. Under the amendments, 
the recoverable amount is required to be disclosed only when an impairment loss has been 
recognized or reversed.  The amendments apply retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2014. The adoption of the amendments did not have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

IFRIC 21, Levies 

Beginning January 1, 2014, the Company adopted International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (“IFRIC”) 21 Levies on a retrospective basis with restatement. This IFRIC is applicable to 
all levies other than outflows that are within the scope of other standards, fines, or penalties for 
breaches of legislation. The interpretation clarifies that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy when 
the activity that triggers payments, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. The adoption of 
IFRIC 21 did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

b) Future Accounting Policy Changes 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), with a 
mandatory effective date of January 1, 2018. The new standard brings together the classification and 
measurements, impairment and hedge accounting phases of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. In addition to the new requirements for 
classification and measurement of financial assets, a new general hedge accounting model and other 
amendments issued in previous versions of IFRS 9, the standard also introduces new impairment 
requirements that are based on a forward-looking expected credit loss model. The Company intends 
to adopt IFRS 9 in its consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning January 1, 
2018. The extent of the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 has not yet been determined. 

Annual Improvements to IFRS (2010 – 2012) and (2011-2013) cycles 

In December 2013, the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to a total of nine standards as part of 
its annual improvements process. The IASB uses the annual improvements process to make non-
urgent but necessary amendments to IFRS.  

Most amendments will apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014; 
earlier application is permitted, in which case, the related consequential amendments to other IFRSs 
would also apply.  
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The Company intends to adopt these amendments in its consolidated financial statements for the 
annual period beginning on January 1, 2015. The extent of the impact of adoption of the amendments 
has not yet been determined. 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 

In December 2014, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, to 
provide guidance on the application of judgment in the preparation of financial statements and 
disclosures. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2016 with earlier adoption permitted. The extent of the impact of the adoption of the amendments 
have not yet been determined. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

On May 28, 2014 the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”).  
The new standard is effective for fiscal years ending on or after December 31, 2017 and is available 
for early adoption. 

IFRS 15 will replace IAS 11, IAS 18, IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements 
for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers, and SIC 31 
Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. 

The Company intends to adopt IFRS 15 in its consolidated financial statements for the annual period 
beginning on January 1, 2017. The extent of the impact of adoption of the standard has not yet been 
determined. 

 
NOTE 5: SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 

The Company is an international, multi-disciplinary provider of a broad range of professional services 
focused on the physical development of cities. The Company considers the basis on which it is 
organized, including geographic areas and service offerings, in identifying its reportable segments. 

(a) Operating segments 

Operating segments of the Company are defined as components for which separate financial 
information is available that is evaluated regularly in allocating resources and assessing performance.  

The Company has one operating segment, consulting services. These services are provided 
throughout Canada, the U.S., and internationally.   
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(b) Geographic segments 

The following table demonstrates certain statement of financial position information line items 
segmented geographically as at December 31, 2014, with comparatives as at December 31, 2013: 

  As at December 31, 2014 
   Canada     U.S. International      Total 
      
Property and equipment   $ 9,550  $ 1,974  $ 1,256  $ 12,780 
Intangible assets     1,115   3,356   846   5,317 
      
Work in process    71,931 16,759 21,178 109,868 
Reserve for work in process  (20,145) (2,687) (1,665) (24,497) 
Work in process, net   51,786 14,072 19,513 85,371 
      
Deferred revenue  19,652 5,621 2,729 28,002 
Total assets   165,412   50,772    35,879    252,063  
      

 
 

  As at December 31, 2013 
   Canada        U.S. International         Total 

      
Property and equipment   $ 2,801  $ 1,830  $ 1,928  $ 6,559 
Intangible assets     -   3,728   944   4,672 
      
Work in process    87,711 14,561 14,054 116,326 
Reserve for work in process  (19,246) (2,684) (1,314) (23,244) 
Work in process, net   68,465 11,877 12,740 93,082 
      
Deferred revenue  11,292 2,109 390 13,791 
Total assets    169,210   47,813   25,238   242,261 
      

 
The following table demonstrates certain information contained in the statement of comprehensive 
loss segmented geographically for the year ended December 31, 2014, with comparatives for the 
year ended December 31, 2013. The unallocated amounts pertain to expenses relating to convertible 
debentures, the credit facilities, taxes, non-cash finance costs, rent for the Corporate office and 
professional fees related to Corporate matters that have been incurred by the Company.   
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 Year ended December 31, 2014 

  
Unallocated 

Corporate Costs Canada U.S. International Total 

 
 

    
Revenues  $ -  $ 166,408  $ 85,294  $ 46,572  $ 298,274 
      
Net income (loss) from 
continuing operations  $ (7,935)  $         8,620  $         3,242  $        1,992  $         5,919 

 

 Year ended December 31, 2013 

  
Unallocated 

Corporate Costs Canada U.S. International Total 
      
Revenues  $ -  $ 148,752  $ 69,796  $ 38,838  $ 257,386 
      
Net income (loss) from 
continuing operations  $ (7,820)  $ (154,848)  $ (36,200)  $ (11,030)  $ (209,898) 

 
NOTE 6: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
(a) Indebtedness 

As at December 31, 2013, the Company had a credit facility of $120,000, which was set to mature 
July 29, 2016. The Company had borrowed $87,844 under the credit facility as at December 31, 2013 
with unamortized transaction costs of $2,365. The net amount of $85,479 was classified as long-term 
in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2013. Advances under these 
credit facilities bore interest at a rate based on the Canadian dollar or U.S. dollar prime rate, LIBOR 
or banker’s acceptance rates, plus, in each case, an applicable margin.  

In addition, a bid bond guarantee facility (the “Bid Bond Facility”) of up to US$20,000 was available to 
the Company to meet certain project requirements calling for the issuance of bid bonds to 
international customers. As at December 31, 2013, the Company issued bid bonds in the amount of 
$2,335 under the Bid Bond Facility. The Bid Bond Facility was only available by way of letters of 
credit or letters of guarantee.   

As noted in Note 18 - Discontinued Operations, on October 2, 2014, the Company finalized the sale 
of its Quebec operations and a 49% equity interest in China.  Proceeds of $9,082 received from the 
sale were used to reduce the existing indebtedness under the Company’s existing credit facilities. 

On October 6, 2014, the Company reached an agreement with its senior lenders to amend its existing 
credit facilities. The amended credit facilities consist of a swing line facility for $3,500, a revolver 
facility for $14,500, an office capital expenditure facility for $7,000, a letter of credit facility for $7,000 
and a term facility for $62,000. The Bid Bond Facility was cancelled as part of the new financing 
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agreement.  The aggregate availability under the amended credit facilities on closing was $94,000. 
The agreement requires step-down payments on the term facility of $5,000 on October 31, 2014, 
$5,000 on July 31, 2015, $5,000 on October 31, 2015 and $47,000 on maturity relating to the term 
loan facility. The Company made the required $5,000 payment to reduce the term loan facility in 
October, which reduced the total available borrowings to $89,000. In addition, the availability on the 
letter of credit facility was reduced by $2,000 during the year, resulting in total available borrowings 
under the amended credit facilities to $87,000 as of December 31, 2014. As at December 31, 2014, 
the Company had borrowings of $73,423 and had issued letters of credit of $4,855. The credit facility 
has a maturity date of March 31, 2016. 

The revolver facility is subject to a borrowing base calculation. In addition, the availability of each 
credit facility is subject to compliance with certain financial, reporting and other covenants. Advances 
under the credit facilities bear interest at a rate based on the Canadian dollar prime rate or US dollar 
base rate plus, in each case, an applicable margin.   

The amendment to the existing credit facilities was considered an extinguishment for accounting 
purposes. This resulted in a write-off of deferred financing costs of $2,474 that was recognized in 
other finance costs in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss. 

The credit facilities contained financial covenants including funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA1  ratio, 
fixed-charge coverage ratio, and restrictions on distributions, if certain conditions were not met. The 
Company was in compliance with its credit facility covenants as at December 31, 2014. 

As at November 1, 2014, the Company was required under the credit facilities to renegotiate payment 
terms under the vendor notes payable. The Company did not comply with this covenant and 
subsequently obtained waivers to renegotiate the terms of the vendor notes payable by January 15, 
2015, as noted in Note 19 – Notes Payable. These notes were renegotiated by January 15, 2015. 
Subsequent to year end, the Company entered into a transaction to factor receivables that exceeded 
the allowed threshold by less than a thousand dollars. The Company has obtained a waiver from its 
banks. 

Continued compliance with the covenants under the amended credit facilities is dependent on the 
Company achieving revenue forecasts, profitability, reducing costs and the overall improvement of 
working capital and an appropriate recapitalization plan. Market conditions have been difficult to 
predict and there is no assurance that the Company will achieve its forecasts. In the event of non-
compliance, the Company’s lenders have the right to demand repayment of the amounts outstanding 
under the lending agreements or pursue other remedies if the Company cannot reach an agreement 
with its lenders to amend or waive the financial covenants. As in the past, the Company will carefully 
monitor its compliance with the covenants and will seek waivers, subject to lender approval, as may 
become necessary from time to time.  

                                                 
1 As defined in the credit facilities agreement, references to “Adjusted EBITDA” is to earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and 
amortization; adjusted for gain/loss arising from extraordinary, unusual or non-recurring items; acquisition costs and deferred consideration revenue; 
non-cash expenses; gain/loss realized upon the disposal of capital property; gain/loss on foreign exchange translation; gain/loss on purchase or 
redemption of securities issued; amounts attributable to minority equity investments; and interest income. Adjusted EBITDA is not a recognized 
measure under IFRS and does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS, and the Company’s method of calculating Adjusted EBITDA may 
differ from the methods used by other similar entities. 
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Guarantees from certain subsidiaries of IBI Group as well as IBI Group Architects (Ontario), and a 
first ranking security interest in all of the assets of IBI Group and the guarantors, subject to certain 
permitted encumbrances, have been pledged as security for the indebtedness and obligations of IBI 
Group under the credit facilities. The indebtedness secured by these security interests will rank senior 
to all other security over the assets of IBI Group and the guarantors, subject to certain permitted 
encumbrances. 

(b) Convertible debentures 

The Company has three series of convertible debentures outstanding as at December 31, 2014. 

7.0% Debentures ($46,000 principal, matures on June 30, 2019) 

On July 23, 2014, IBI announced that it entered into a supplemental trust indenture with CIBC Mellon 
Trust Company, the trustee for the 7.0% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures 
(“Debentures”) which were originally scheduled to mature on December 31, 2014, to give effect to the 
amendments approved at a special meeting of the Debenture holders to extend the maturity of the 
Debentures to June 30, 2019. In exchange for the extension of the maturity, Debenture holders that 
delivered and did not withdraw a valid proxy voting for the extension received either; a reduced 
conversion price to $5.00 per share from $19.17 per share with a consent fee note equal to $86.96 
per $1,000 principal amount of Debentures (“Option B”) or the Debenture holders retained the 
conversion price of $19.17 per share and received a consent fee note equal to $195.65 per $1,000 
principal amount of Debentures (“Option A”). The conversion price was also reduced to $5.00 per 
share from $19.17 per share for Debenture holders who did not deposit a proxy, abstained from 
voting or voted against the Debenture amendments (“Option C”). The Debentures bear interest from 
the date of issue at 7.0% per annum, payable in equal semi-annual payments in arrears on June 30th 
and December 31st of each year. The consent fee notes are unsecured, non-convertible, mature 
on December 31, 2016 and bear interest at the rate of 7.0% per annum which is payable on maturity. 

The amendments to the Debentures resulted in them being accounted for as extinguishments for 
accounting purposes. Consequently, the original Debentures were derecognized and the new 
Debentures (under Option A, B and C) were recognized at fair value, resulting in a pre-tax gain on 
extinguishment of $21,137, net of transaction costs of $891 which was recorded to other finance 
costs in the statement of comprehensive loss. See Note 15 – Finance Costs (Income), for further 
detail regarding finance costs for the year ended December 31, 2014. 

The fair value of the new Debentures issued under Option B and C of $18,747 was estimated using 
the observed trading price as these Debentures are considered to be traded in an active market.  The 
fair value was then allocated to the liability component in the amount of $15,922 using discounted 
future cash flows at an estimated fair value discount rate of 26.5% and the residual was allocated to 
the Option B and C conversion feature in equity. The fair value of the new Debentures issued under 
Option A of $7,519 was estimated using discounted future cash flows at an estimated fair value 
discount rate of 26.5%, with a comparison to pre-modification observed trading prices indicating that 
the equity component was of nominal value. As a result, substantively all of the fair value of the new 
Debentures issued under Option A was allocated to the liability component. 
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The fair value of the consent fee notes issued under Option A and B were $1,984 and $453 
respectively, using discounted future cash flows at an estimated fair value discount rate of 26.5%.   

The new Debentures and consent fee notes were subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method over their respective lives to maturity. As at December 31, 2014, the liability 
component of the new Debentures have an amortized cost of $25,333 and the consent fee notes 
have an amortized cost of $2,631. The accretion expense for the new Debentures and consent fee 
notes was $2,085 for the year ended December 31, 2014. See Note 15 – Finance Costs (Income), for 
further detail regarding the accretion expense for the period. The equity component for the conversion 
feature of the new Debentures in the amount of $2,894 is measured at fair value at the date of 
issuance.  

Post amendment, the ticker symbol for the new Debentures under Option B and C (aggregate 
principal amount of $31,245) is IBG.DB and for Option A (aggregate principal amount of $14,755) is 
IBG.DB.C. The fair value of the new Debentures under Option B and C was $14,060 and for Option A 
was $5,164 based on their respective quoted market price as at December 31, 2014. 

5.75% Debentures ($20,000 principal, matures on September 30, 2017) 

The 5.75% Debentures are recorded as compound financial instruments. The liability component was 
recorded at fair value on the date of conversion to a corporation and measured subsequently at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method over the life of the 5.75% Debentures. As at 
December 31, 2014, the liability component has an amortized cost of $18,838 (December 31, 2013 - 
$18,436). The equity component for the conversion feature of $896 is measured at the fair value on 
the date of conversion to a corporation. The 5.75% Debentures have a maturity date of September 
30, 2017 at $20,000. The 5.75% Debentures are convertible into shares of the Company at the option 
of the holder at a conversion price of $20.52 per unit. The 5.75% Debentures are redeemable by the 
Company at a price of $1,000 per 5.75% Debenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, on or after 
June 30, 2015 and prior to the maturity date (provided that, if the redemption is prior to June 30, 
2015, the weighted average trading price of the shares of the Company on the TSX for the 20 
consecutive trading days ending five trading days preceding the date on which notice of redemption is 
given is not less than 125% of the Conversion Price of $20.52). The Debentures bear interest from 
the date of issue at 5.75% per annum, payable in equal semi-annual payments in arrears on June 
30th and December 31st of each year. The fair value of the 5.75% Debentures was $8,400 based on 
the quoted market price as at December 31, 2014. 

6.0% Debentures ($57,500 principal, matures on September 30, 2018) 

The 6.0% Debentures are recorded as compound financial instruments. The liability component was 
recorded at fair value on issuance and was subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method over the life of the 6.0% Debentures. As at December 31, 2014, the liability 
component has an amortized cost of $54,266 (December 31, 2013 - $53,493). The equity component 
for the conversion feature of $3,206 is measured at the fair value on the date of conversion to a 
corporation. The 6.0% Debentures have a maturity date of September 30, 2018 at $57,500. The 6.0% 
Debentures are convertible into common shares of the Company at the option of the holder at a 
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conversion price of $21.00 per share. The 6.0% Debentures are redeemable by the Company at a 
price of $1,000 per 6.0% Debenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, on or after June 30, 2014 and 
prior to the maturity date (provided that, if the redemption is prior to June 30, 2016, the weighted 
average trading price of the shares of the Company on the TSX for the 20 consecutive trading days 
ending five trading days preceding the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 
125% of the Conversion Price of $21.00). The Debentures bear interest from the date of issue at 
6.0% per annum, payable in equal semi-annual payments in arrears on June 30th and December 31st 
of each year. The fair value of the 6.0% Debentures was $22,425 based on the quoted market price 
as at December 31, 2014. 

The movement in Convertible Debentures and related embedded derivative for the year ended 
December 31, 2014 is as follows: 

 

  
Liability  

component 
Equity  

component Total 
    

Balance, January 1, 2014  $ 116,760  $  5,852  $  122,612 

Accretion of convertible debenture 
                 

               3,705     -    3,705 
Gain on extinguishment of 7.0% convertible 

debentures             (22,028)                       -              (22,028) 
Derecognition of 7.0% convertible debentures                     -                (2,774)                (2,774) 
Recognition of amended 7.0% convertible 

debentures                     -                 2,894                 2,894 
Impact of extinguishment of 7.0% convertible 

debentures -                                     (120)                   (120) 
    
Balance, December 31, 2014  $ 98,437  $  5,852  $  104,289 

 
 
The movement in convertible debentures for the year ended December 31, 2013 is as follows: 

 

  
Liability  

component 
Equity  

component Total 
    

Balance, January 1, 2013  $ 114,613  $  5,852  $  120,465 
Accretion of convertible debenture    2,147    -    2,147 
    
Balance, December 31, 2013  $ 116,760  $  5,852  $  122,612 
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(c) Financial assets and liabilities 
 
The carrying amount of the Company’s financial instruments as at December 31, 2014 are as follows: 

 

Financial 
assets and 
liabilities at 

FVTPL 
Loans and 
receivables 

Other financial 
liabilities Total 

     
Financial assets     

Cash $  10,342 $  - $  - $  10,342 
Accounts receivable   -   106,451   -   106,451 
     

Total $  10,342 $  106,451 $  - $  116,793 
     
Financial liabilities     

Accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities $  - $  - $  57,449 $  57,449 

Deferred share plan liability1 391   -   -   391 
Due to related parties   -   -   10,000   10,000 
Vendor notes payable   -   -   5,013            5,013 
Consent fee notes payable   -   -   2,631             2,631 
Credit facilities   -   -   73,423   73,423 
Convertible debentures   -   -   98,437   98,437 
     

Total $  391 $  - $  246,953 $  247,344 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1 The deferred share plan liability is grouped with accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the statement of financial 
position. See Note 16 – Deferred Share Plan, for further discussion. 

IB
I 

G
R

O
U

P
 2

0
14

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

 2
0

14
 F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L

S

B-27



 

 

IBI GROUP INC. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

28 
 

 

The carrying amount of the Company’s financial instruments as at December 31, 2013 are as follows: 
 

 

Financial 
assets and 
liabilities at 

FVTPL 
Loans and 
receivables 

Other financial 
liabilities Total 

     
Financial assets     

Cash  $  8,066 $  - $  - $  8,066 
Accounts receivable   -   104,791   -   104,791 
     

Total $  8,066 $  104,791 $  - $  112,857 
 
Financial liabilities     

Accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities $  - $  - $  43,733 $  43,733 

Deferred share plan liability1                138   -   -   138 
Due to related parties   -   -   10,000   10,000 
Vendor notes payable   -   -   5,381   5,381 
Credit facilities   -   -   85,479   85,479 
Convertible debentures   -   -   116,760   116,760 
     

Total $  138 $  - $  261,353 $  261,491 
     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1 The deferred share plan liability is grouped with accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the statement of financial position. See 
Note 16 – Deferred Share Plan, for further discussion.  
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NOTE 7: PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 
(a) Carrying amount 
 

Proceeds from disposals are netted against the related assets and the accumulated depreciation, and 
are included in the statement of comprehensive loss. Property and equipment consist of the following: 

 
  

Office furniture 
and equipment 

EDP 
equipment Vehicles Leaseholds Total 

      
Cost      
January 1, 2013 $  7,390 $  14,086 $  222 $  8,302 $  30,000 
      
Additions   525   560   -   1,239   2,324 
Additions through 
acquisitions 

  24   2   -   14   40 

Disposals   (223)    (208)   (26)   (359)   (816) 
Foreign currency translation 

gain  
  394    114   11   484   1,003 

December 31, 2013 $  8,110 $  14,554 $  207 $  9,680 $  32,551 
      
Additions          3,316   2,098           -   8,152   13,566 
Disposals   (1,091)      (3,111) 

 
  (60)   (2,675)  (6,937)  

Impairment from continuing 
operations 

                -                 -                                                      -                                  (3,248)       (3,248) 

Impairment from 
discontinued operations 

          (296)           (353)                -         (392)       (1,041) 

Foreign currency translation 
gain  

  303    399   48   240   990 

      
December 31, 2014 $  10,342 $  13,587 $  195 $  11,757 $  35,881 
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Office furniture 
and equipment 

EDP 
equipment Vehicles Leaseholds Total 

      
Accumulated depreciation      
January 1, 2013 $  4,509 $  12,448 $  103 $  5,544 $  22,604 
      
Depreciation from 

continuing operations 
  705   743   34   455   1,937 

Depreciation from       
discontinued operations                 126              432 10 905 1,473 
Disposals    (198)    (180)   (21)   (357)   (756) 
Foreign currency translation 

gain  
  288    75   7   364   734  

      
December 31, 2013 $  5,430 $  13,518 $  133 $  6,911 $  25,992 
      
Depreciation from 

continuing operations 
  1,077   798   28   766   2,669 

Depreciation from 
discontinued operations 

             111               234               -              347          692 

Disposals   (983)    (2,889)   (55)   (2,333)   (6,260) 
Foreign currency translation 

gain (loss) 
  87    142   51   (272)           8  

      
December 31, 2014 $  5,722 $  11,803 $  157 $  5,419 $  23,101 
      

 
Net carrying amount      
December 31, 2013 $  2,680 $  1,036 $  74 $  2,769 $  6,559 
December 31, 2014 $  4,620 $  1,784 $  38 $  6,338 $  12,780 
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NOTE 8: INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL 
 
(a) Carrying amount 

 
The following table presents the Company’s goodwill and intangible assets as at December 31, 2014 
and December 31, 2013: 

 

  

 
Goodwill 

Contract 
backlog 

Client 
relationships Other Total 

      
Cost      

Balance at January 1, 2013  $ 187,480  $ 33,057  $ 37,666  $ 14,615  $ 272,818 
      
Finalized purchase price 
adjustments   1,274   -   -   -      1,274 
Foreign exchange translation 

gain   831   365   898   360 2,454 
Balance at December 31, 2013  $ 189,585  $ 33,422  $ 38,564  $ 14,975  $ 276,546 

 
Fully amortized assets   (189,585)   (32,890)   (34,335)   (13,805) 

             
 (270,615)    

Additions   -   -   -   1,115      1,115 
Foreign exchange translation 

gain    -   48   322   107 477 
      
Balance at December 31, 2014  $ -  $ 580  $ 4,551  $ 2,392  $ 7,523 
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(b) Impairment testing for CGUs containing goodwill 

The Company completed its assessments of impairment indicators for definite life intangible assets 
and concluded that there were no indicators of impairment during 2014. 

The Company performed testing for goodwill impairment in the second and fourth quarters of 2013 in 
accordance with its policy described in Note 3. During the second quarter of 2013, the share price of 
the Company decreased, adversely impacting its market capitalization. The performance of certain 
cash generating units (CGUs) of the Company had also been weaker than expected and as a result 
the Company performed a test for goodwill impairment in the second quarter of 2013. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment where it was not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 
an individual asset, the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs was estimated. A 
CGU is defined as the smallest identifiable group of assets for which there are separately identifiable 
cash inflows. The lowest level within the consolidated group at which the goodwill is monitored for 

 
Goodwill 

Contract 
backlog 

Client 
relationships Other Total 

Accumulated amortization      
and impairment      
Balance at January 1, 2013  $ 29,692  $ 32,302  $ 12,612  $ 10,014  $ 84,620 
      

Amortization from continuing 
operations   -   493   3,215   1,689   5,397 

Amortization from 
discontinued operations   -   -   219    150   369 

Impairment expense from 
continuing operations   155,188   180   16,744   2,185   174,297 

Impairment expense from 
discontinued operations   4,705   -   1,349    150   6,204 

Foreign exchange translation 
gain    -   301   477   1,049     987 

Balance at December 31, 2013  $ 189,585  $ 33,276  $ 34,616  $ 14,397  $ 271,874 
          

Fully amortized assets      (189,585)        
(189,585 

        (32,890)         (34,335)         (13,805)          (270,615)            
 (270,615)    Amortization    -   152   350   317   819 

Foreign exchange translation 
gain   -   42   38   48    128 

      
Balance at December 31, 2014  $ -  $ 580  $ 669  $ 957  $ 2,206 

Net carrying amount      
At December 31, 2013  $ -  $ 146  $ 3,319  $ 1,207  $ 4,672 
At December 31, 2014  $ -  $              -  $ 3,882  $ 1,435  $ 5,317 
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internal management purposes, depends on the timing and integration of the legal entities acquired 
where goodwill arose on the business combination.  

Where recently acquired subsidiaries are still operating as if they are an independent branch, i.e. 
negotiating, writing and collecting all contracts under the predecessor name, not sharing significant 
resources or staff, etc. with IBI Group, the entity is considered an independent CGU. Where groups of 
entities within the consolidated group share contracts, resources and contribute to the cash inflows of 
one another, management assessed where independent cash inflows could be identified by grouping 
the lowest number of entities, which is by geographic location.  

 Estimates of expected future EBITDA1 reflect estimates of future revenues, salaries fee, and 
employee benefits, rent, and other operating expenses, which are updated as part of the 
Company’s ongoing budgeting process. In arriving at its budget, the Company considered 
past experience, economic trends such as GDP growth and inflation as well as industry and 
market trends. The projection also took into account the expected impact from new service 
initiatives, customer retention and integration programs, and the maturity of the markets in 
which the business operates. The Company’s forecasts are based on revenue backlog, mix of 
employee staff levels and compensation, timing of project completion, and other factors 
related to the Company’s project management.  Due to the manner in which it fills its revenue 
backlog, management believes that the most recent and immediate following year are the best 
indicators of the Company’s ongoing EBITDA1. 

 Since public companies in the Company’s industry typically trade at a market capitalization 
that is based on a multiple of their EBITDA1, a market participant would generally apply an 
EBITDA1 multiple when estimating the fair value of a professional services company. When it 
acquires entities, the Company uses multiples that are specific to those countries and entities, 
which may vary from public multiples.   

 The recoverable amount of each CGU was based on the higher of fair value less cost to sell 
and value in use, which was determined to be fair value less costs to sell for all CGUs. The 
fair value less costs to sell of each CGU was calculated by taking an average of: 

o The CGU’s January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013 EBITDA1 multiplied by an earnings 
multiple of seven, or for recent acquisitions, the earnings multiple implied in the 
purchase price of the acquisition. 

o The CGU’s January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014 management forecasted EBITDA1 
multiplied by an earnings multiple of six, or for recent acquisitions, the earnings 
multiple used when determining the purchase price of the acquisition  

Costs to sell, estimated at 3%, were deducted from the fair value calculation, which is in line 
with the average transaction costs in recent acquisitions made by the Company.  

                                                 
1 References to “EBITDA” in respect of impairment testing is to earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and 
amortization. EBITDA is not a recognized measure under IFRS and does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS. 
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 The earnings multiple of seven was selected to apply to historical EBITDA1 based on search 
of industry comparables. The earnings multiple of six was selected to apply to the 2014 
forecasted EBITDA1 in order to incorporate a discount to the forecasted EBITDA1. The 
earnings multiple used for recently acquired CGUs were selected because this was an 
accurate reflection of the market value paid for the recently acquired CGU. 

As a result of the analysis the Company recorded an impairment charge of $159,893 to goodwill and 
$20,608 to intangibles in 2013. In 2013 the Company had 14 CGUs, the allocation of the impairment 
charge by segment is identified below: 

  As at December 31, 2013 
       Goodwill          

      Impairment 
         Intangible  

         Impairment         Total 
    
Canada   $ 129,069  $ 13,667  $ 142,736 
US   22,798   3,419   26,217 
International   8,026   3,522   11,548 
     
 Total Impairment  $ 159,893  $ 20,608  $ 180,501 
    

NOTE 9: INCOME TAXES 

The major components of income tax expense include the following: 

 Year ended 
 
 

December 31, 
2014 

December 31, 
2013 

   
Current tax expense (recovery)    
Current period          $     1,325       $             (209) 
Adjustment for prior periods           215       98 
   
                1,540  (111) 
   
Deferred tax expense (recovery)    
Origination and reversal of temporary differences                    (64)            (20,766) 
Change in tax rates                256 (144) 
Adjustment for prior periods                427 317 
Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences 683 7,669 
   
                1,302 (12,924) 

   

Total tax expense (recovery)  $      2,842 $        (13,035) 
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The provision for income taxes in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income represents 
an effective tax rate different than the Canadian enacted or substantively enacted statutory rate of 
approximately 26.5%. The differences are as follows: 

 Year ended 
 December 31, 

2014 
December 31, 

2013 
   
Net income (loss)    $    5,919   $ (209,898) 
Total tax expense (recovery)    2,842   (13,035) 
   
Net income (loss) before taxes    $ 8,761   $ (222,933) 
   
Income tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate   $     2,322   $     (59,077) 
   
 
Income tax effect of: 

  

Non-deductible expenses   1,682   661 
Change in deferred tax rates   256   (144) 
Non-controlling interests share of income   21   1,182 
Operating in jurisdictions with different tax rates   (570)   (3,709) 
Change in unrecognized temporary differences   683   7,669 
Prior period adjustments to current tax   218   13 
Prior period adjustments to deferred tax   427   302 
Withholding taxes    73   141 
Impairment of goodwill   -   43,221 
Benefit retained on discontinued operations   (2,457)         (3,207) 
Other   187   (87) 
   

Income tax expense (recovery)  $ 2,842  $ (13,035) 

The applicable tax rate is the aggregate of the Canadian Federal income tax rate of 15% and the 
Provincial income tax rate of 11.5%. 

Unrecognized deferred tax liabilities 

As at December 31, 2014, the Company has approximately $12,979 (December 31, 2013 - $4,958) of 
temporary differences associated with its investments in foreign subsidiaries for which no deferred 
taxes have been provided on the basis that the company is able to control the timing of the reversal of 
such temporary differences and that such reversal is not probable in the foreseeable future. 
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The provision for income taxes in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income represents 
an effective tax rate different than the Canadian enacted or substantively enacted statutory rate of 
approximately 26.5%. The differences are as follows: 

 Year ended 
 December 31, 

2014 
December 31, 

2013 
   
Net income (loss)    $    5,919   $ (209,898) 
Total tax expense (recovery)    2,842   (13,035) 
   
Net income (loss) before taxes    $ 8,761   $ (222,933) 
   
Income tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate   $     2,322   $     (59,077) 
   
 
Income tax effect of: 

  

Non-deductible expenses   1,682   661 
Change in deferred tax rates   256   (144) 
Non-controlling interests share of income   21   1,182 
Operating in jurisdictions with different tax rates   (570)   (3,709) 
Change in unrecognized temporary differences   683   7,669 
Prior period adjustments to current tax   218   13 
Prior period adjustments to deferred tax   427   302 
Withholding taxes    73   141 
Impairment of goodwill   -   43,221 
Benefit retained on discontinued operations   (2,457)         (3,207) 
Other   187   (87) 
   

Income tax expense (recovery)  $ 2,842  $ (13,035) 

The applicable tax rate is the aggregate of the Canadian Federal income tax rate of 15% and the 
Provincial income tax rate of 11.5%. 

Unrecognized deferred tax liabilities 

As at December 31, 2014, the Company has approximately $12,979 (December 31, 2013 - $4,958) of 
temporary differences associated with its investments in foreign subsidiaries for which no deferred 
taxes have been provided on the basis that the company is able to control the timing of the reversal of 
such temporary differences and that such reversal is not probable in the foreseeable future. 

 

 

IB
I 

G
R

O
U

P
 2

0
14

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

 2
0

14
 F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L

S

B-35



 

 

IBI GROUP INC. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

36 
 

 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following gross temporary differences: 

 Year ended 
 December 31, 

2014 
December 31, 

2013 
   
Deductible temporary differences $  16,401 $  13,897 
Tax losses – Federal   17,168   16,210 
Tax losses – State    32,087   25,878 
   
 $  65,656 $  55,985 

 
         The tax effected amount of unrecognized gross temporary differences is as follows:  

 Year ended 
 December 31, 

2014 
December 31, 

2013 
   
Deductible temporary differences $  6,069 $  5,414 
Tax losses – Federal   6,267   5,760 
Tax losses – State   2,246   1,294 
   
 $  14,582 $  12,468 

As at December 31, 2014, the Company’s affiliated entities have $ 42,153 (December 31, 2013 - 
$31,764) of operating loss carry forwards available for income tax purposes, which expire in the years 
2016 through 2034. Deferred tax assets are recognized for these operating loss carry forwards to the 
extent that the realization of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The 
ability of the Company to realize the tax benefits of the loss carry forwards is contingent on many 
factors, including the ability to generate future taxable profits in the jurisdictions in which the tax 
losses arose.  

The Company regularly assesses the status of open tax examinations and its historical tax filing 
positions for the potential for adverse outcomes to determine the adequacy of the provision for 
income and other taxes. The Company believes that it has adequately provided for any tax 
adjustments that are more likely than not to occur as a result of ongoing tax examinations or historical 
filing positions. 

The tax effect of temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities and their respective tax bases that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax 
assets at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 are presented below: 
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Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

 Year ended December 31, 2014 
 Assets Liabilities Total 
    
Property and equipment  $     1,995   $           (6)   $ 1,989 
Non-capital loss       10,567                   -    10,567 
Reserves         1,350         (8,426)    (7,076)    
Financing costs         1,366                   -    1,366 
Intangible assets         3,610            (206)    3,404 
Other            692              (52)    640 
    
  $   19,580   $    (8,690)   $ 10,890 

 
 Year ended December 31, 2013 
 Assets Liabilities Total 
    
Property and equipment  $ 752  $ (55)  $ 697 
Non-capital loss   8,260   -   8,260 
Reserves   168   (2,214)   (2,046) 
Financing costs   -   (125)   (125) 
Intangible assets   5,429   -   5,429 
Other   (388)   378   (10) 
    
  $ 14,221  $ (2,016)  $ 12,205 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities - Movement in temporary differences during the year 
 

 

NOTE 10: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Pursuant to the Administration Agreement entered into in connection with the closing of the initial 
public offering of the Company’s predecessor, the Fund, IBI Group and certain of its subsidiaries 
are paying to the Management Partnership an amount representing the base compensation for the 
services of the principals of the partners of the Management Partnership. The amount paid for 
such services during the year ended December 31, 2014 was $26,094 (year ended December 31, 
2013 - $28,355). As at December 31, 2014 there were 98 partners (December 31, 2014 – 101 
partners).  

 

Balance January 1,  
2014 

Recognized in 
profit or loss 

 
 

Other deferred  
tax items 

Balance  
December 31, 

2014 

 
 

 
  

Property, plant and 
equipment 

 $ 697     $      1,292   $              -   $         1,989  

Non-capital loss   8,260             2,307                   -    10,567 

Reserves    (2,046)           (5,030)                   -    (7,076) 

Financing costs   (125)   1,491                  -    1,366 

Intangible assets   5,429           (2,025)                   -    3,404 

Other   (10)                663                (13)    640 

     

  $       12,205   $        (1,302)   $           (13)  $       10,890                     
11,9                                         

 

Balance, January 
1,  2013 

Recognized in 
profit or loss 

 
 

Other deferred  
tax items 

Balance, 
December 31, 

2013 

 
 

 
  

Property, plant and 
equipment 

 $ 1,073  $ (376)  $ -  $ 697 

Non-capital loss   1,074   7,186   -   8,260 

Reserves   (2,389)   343   -   (2,046) 

Financing costs   182   (307)   -   (125) 

Intangible assets   (900)   6,329   -   5,429 

Other   (55)   (251)   296   (10) 

     

  $       (1,015)  $ 12,924  $ 296  $       12,205 
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IBI Group from time to time makes a monthly distribution to each Class B partnership unit holder 
equal to the dividend per share (on a pre-tax basis) declared to each shareholder. All of the Class B 
partnership units are held by the Management Partnership. As at December 31, 2014 and 2013 the 
amount of distributions payable to the Management Partnership were nil.  

          During the first quarter of 2010, the Management Partnership advanced $26,000 to IBI Group. The 
loan bears interest at the same rate as the operating line of credit that IBI Group has with its bank 
lender, less any commitment fees payable to its bank lender. The loan is subordinated to the 
Company’s credit facilities with its bank lender and is unsecured.  As at December 31, 2014, the 
remaining amount payable was $10,000 (December 31, 2013 - $10,000). Interest expense on this 
advance was $380 for the year ended December 31, 2014 (2013 - $380). The loan matures April 1, 
2015 with no repayment prior to the maturity of the credit facility unless the Company achieves 
certain financial covenants. Subsequent to year end, the Partnership and Board of Directors 
approved a plan to convert the Principal outstanding into common shares of IBI. 

          As noted in Note 18 –Discontinued Operations, on October 2, 2014, Daniel Arbour, who previously 
led IBI Group’s operations in China, acquired a 19% equity interest in IBI China Holdings Limited 
(“China”). The Company also sold a 30% equity interest in China to Lemay for approximately $510, 
subject to final closing adjustments. In addition, a 19% equity interest in China was sold to Champlain 
(2014) Inc. (“Champlain”) in exchange for a non-interest bearing receivable for $475.  The receivable 
will be settled based on an earn-out period over the next four years.  Champlain is 100% owned by 
Daniel Arbour, who has led IBI Group’s operations in China and is a related party to the Company.  

Compensation of Key Management Personnel 

The Company’s key management personnel are comprised of the Board and members of the 
executive team of the Company, to the extent that they have the authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the day-to-day activities of the Company.  

 Year ended Year ended 
 December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 
   
Directors fees, salaries and other short-term 

employee benefits   
 $  2,601  $  3,429 

Share–based compensation    183   162 
   
Total compensation   $ 2,784  $ 3,591 
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NOTE 11: EQUITY 
 
(a) Shareholders’ equity 

 
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares. As at December 31, 
2014, the Company’s common share capital consisted of 17,808,484 shares issued and outstanding 
(December 31, 2013 – 17,532,993 shares).   

Each share entitles the holder to one vote at all meetings of shareholders.  

The 5,025,778 Class B partnership units of IBI Group are indirectly exchangeable for common shares 
of the Company on the basis of one share of the Company for each Class B subordinated partnership 
unit.  If all such Class B partnership units of IBI Group had been exchanged for shares on December 
31, 2014, the units issued on such exchange would have represented a 22.2% interest in the 
Company.   

Class B partnership units do not entitle the holder to voting rights at the meetings of shareholders. 
The Class B partnership units have been recorded as a non-controlling interest in the consolidated 
financial statements as at December 31, 2014 and 2013.  

Share Issuances  

2014 

 During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company issued 141,805 common shares for 
a total of $404 in exchange for Class B partnership units of IBI (US) Limited Partnership which 
had been issued in a prior year for the acquisition of one of its subsidiaries. This resulted in a 
reduction of non-controlling interest by $2,233 with a corresponding increase to contributed 
surplus for $1,829 in the period. 

 During year ended December 31, 2014, the Company issued 113,991 shares for a total of 
$250 related to the settlement of deferred share units exercised by former members of the 
Board of Directors.    
 

 During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company issued 20,000 common shares for a 
total of $24 in exchange for Class D partnership units of IBI Group which had been issued in a 
prior year for the acquisition of one of its subsidiaries. This resulted in a reduction of non-
controlling interest by $301 with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus for $277 in 
the period. 

 
2013 

 During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company issued 12,000 common shares 
under the Dividend Reinvestment Plan (“DRIP”) for a total of $74.  

 During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company issued 286,000 common shares, 
44,780 common shares and 344,000 common shares for acquisition payments for a total of 
$2,579. These share issuances were settled by reducing notes payable. 
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Dividends 

On May 24, 2013 the Company suspended its dividend and no dividends were declared after 
February 2013. In February 2013, the Company declared quarterly dividends of $2,316. 

Earnings (loss) per share from continuing and discontinued operations 

 Year ended Year ended 
 December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 
   
Net income (loss) from continuing operations 

attributable to owners of the Company 
             $         4,605   $     (162,325) 

Net loss from discontinued operations attributable to 
owners of the Company 

(7,063) (10,494) 

   
Net loss attributable to owners of the Company               $       (2,458)    $     (172,819) 
Reduction in net loss attributable to owners of the 

Company due to dilution 
- - 

   
Net loss attributable to owners of the Company for 
diluted loss per common share 

           $        (2,458)       $     (172,819) 

   
Weighted average common shares outstanding   17,642   17,201 
Dilutive effect of Class B partnership units 5,026 - 
Diluted weighted average common shares 
outstanding 

22,668 17,201 

   
Basic and diluted loss per common share            $          (0.14)   $          (10.05) 
Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing 

operations 
          $            0.26    $            (9.44) 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing 
operations 

 $              0.20   $            (9.44) 

Basic and diluted loss per common share from 
discontinued operations 

  $           (0.40) $            (0.61) 

 
For the purposes of calculating diluted earnings (loss) per share, any impact of the convertible rights 
on the convertible debentures are not included in the calculation of net loss per common share or 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding as they would be anti-dilutive.  

For the purposes of calculating diluted loss per share in 2013, any impact of the exchange rights of 
the non-controlling interest are not included in the calculation of net loss per common share or 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding as they would be anti-dilutive. 

 

 

B-40



 

 

IBI GROUP INC. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

41 
 

 

Dividends 

On May 24, 2013 the Company suspended its dividend and no dividends were declared after 
February 2013. In February 2013, the Company declared quarterly dividends of $2,316. 

Earnings (loss) per share from continuing and discontinued operations 

 Year ended Year ended 
 December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 
   
Net income (loss) from continuing operations 

attributable to owners of the Company 
             $         4,605   $     (162,325) 

Net loss from discontinued operations attributable to 
owners of the Company 

(7,063) (10,494) 

   
Net loss attributable to owners of the Company               $       (2,458)    $     (172,819) 
Reduction in net loss attributable to owners of the 

Company due to dilution 
- - 

   
Net loss attributable to owners of the Company for 
diluted loss per common share 

           $        (2,458)       $     (172,819) 

   
Weighted average common shares outstanding   17,642   17,201 
Dilutive effect of Class B partnership units 5,026 - 
Diluted weighted average common shares 
outstanding 

22,668 17,201 

   
Basic and diluted loss per common share            $          (0.14)   $          (10.05) 
Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing 

operations 
          $            0.26    $            (9.44) 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing 
operations 

 $              0.20   $            (9.44) 

Basic and diluted loss per common share from 
discontinued operations 

  $           (0.40) $            (0.61) 

 
For the purposes of calculating diluted earnings (loss) per share, any impact of the convertible rights 
on the convertible debentures are not included in the calculation of net loss per common share or 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding as they would be anti-dilutive.  

For the purposes of calculating diluted loss per share in 2013, any impact of the exchange rights of 
the non-controlling interest are not included in the calculation of net loss per common share or 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding as they would be anti-dilutive. 

 

 

IB
I 

G
R

O
U

P
 2

0
14

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

 2
0

14
 F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L

S

B-41



 

 

IBI GROUP INC. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

42 
 

 

(b) Non-controlling interest 

Non-controlling interest in the Company’s subsidiaries is exchangeable into the common shares of 
the Company on a one for one basis, subject to certain conditions. The movement in non-controlling 
interest is shown in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.  

The calculation of net loss and total comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interest is set 
out below: 

 Year ended Year ended 

 December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 
   
Net loss $       (3,160)   $ (223,468) 
Non-controlling interest share of ownership        22.2%        22.7% 
   

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest  $         (702)      $ (50,649) 

 

 Year ended Year ended 
 December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 
   
Total comprehensive loss  $      (3,526)  $ (221,312) 
Non-controlling interest share of ownership                22.2%   22.7% 
   

Total comprehensive loss attributable to non-
controlling interest 

 $         (784)  $ (50,161) 

NOTE 12: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Company has exposure to market, credit and liquidity risk. The Company’s primary risk 
management objective is to protect the Company’s statement of financial position, comprehensive loss 
and cash flow in support of sustainable growth and earnings. The Company’s financial risk 
management activities are governed by financial policies that cover risk identification, tolerance, 
measurement, authorization levels, and reporting. 

(a) Market risk 

Interest Rate Risk  

The Company’s credit facilities have floating-rate debt, which subjects it to interest rate cash flow risk. 
Advances under these credit facilities bear interest at a rate based on the Canadian dollar or United 
States dollar prime rate, LIBOR or banker’s acceptance rates, plus, in each case, an applicable 
margin. 
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If the interest rate on the Company’s variable rate loan balance as at December 31, 2014, had been 
50 basis points higher, with all other variables held constant, net loss for the year ended December 31, 
2014 would have increased by approximately $270. If the interest rate had been 50 basis points lower, 
there would have been an equal and opposite impact on net loss. 

Currency Risk  
 
The Company’s foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of the future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s 
policy has been to economically hedge foreign exchange exposures rather than purchasing currency 
swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts.  

Foreign exchange gains or losses in the Company’s net income arise on the translation of foreign-
denominated financial assets and liabilities (such as cash, accounts receivable, work in process, 
accounts payable, credit facilities and vendor notes payable) held in the Company’s Canadian 
operations. The Company minimizes its exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations on these items by 
matching US-dollar liabilities when possible. 

If the exchange rates had been 100 basis points higher or lower at December 31, 2014, with all other 
variables held constant, net loss would have increased or decreased by $92 for the year ended 
December 31, 2014.  

(b) Credit risk 

Financial instruments that subject the Company to credit risk consist primarily of accounts receivable. 
The Company maintains an allowance for impairment losses on accounts receivable. The estimate is 
based on the best assessment of the ultimate collection of the related accounts receivable balance 
based, in part, on the age of the outstanding accounts receivable and on its historical impairment loss 
experience. 

The Company provides services to diverse clients in various industries and sectors of the economy, 
and its credit risk is not concentrated in any particular client, industry, economic or geographic sector.  
In addition, management reviews accounts receivable past due on an ongoing basis with the objective 
of identifying matters that could potentially delay the collection of funds (at an early stage). The 
Company monitors accounts receivable with an internal target of working days of revenue in accounts 
receivable (a non-IFRS measure). At December 31, 2014 there were 62 working days of revenue in 
accounts receivable, 1 day less than 63 days at December 31, 2013. The maximum exposure to credit 
risk, at the date of the statement of financial position to recognized financial assets is the carrying 
amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial 
position. 

A significant portion of the accounts receivable are due from government and public institutions.  
Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are considered by management to have no 
significant collection risk.  The liquidity of customers and their ability to pay receivables are considered 
by management to have no significant collection risk.  The liquidity of customers and their ability to pay 
receivables are considered in assessing the impairment of such assets. No collateral is held in respect 
of impaired assets or assets that are past due but not impaired.   
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The Company has the following contractual obligations as at December 31, 2014:  
 

  Years ended December 31 

 Carrying 
amount 

2015 2016 and 
2017 

2018 and 
2019 

2020 and 
beyond 

      
Accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities 

$   57,449 $  57,449 $           - $           - $            - 

Credit facilities     73,423     10,000                  63,423               -              -   
Interest on credit facilities - 4,956 1,239 - - 
Convertible debentures 98,437 - 20,000 103,500 - 
Interest on convertible 
debentures 

- 7,820 15,353 7,418 - 

Vendor notes payable1 5,013 5,013 - - - 
Consent fee notes payable 2,631 - 3,500 - - 
Finance lease obligation 928 693 176 59 - 
Due to related parties 10,000 10,000 - - - 
      

Total obligations $  247,881                                     $   95,931         $ 103,691        $  110,977      $            -       
 

(d) Capital management  

The Company’s objective in managing capital is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain 
investor, creditor, and market confidence and to sustain future growth within the business. The 
Company defines its capital as the aggregate of credit facility, convertible debentures and equity. 

The Company’s financing strategy is to access capital markets to raise debt and equity financing and 
utilize the banking market to provide committed term and operating credit facilities to support its short-
term and long-term cash flow needs. 

The Company has used the credit facilities to fund working capital. The credit facilities contain financial 
covenants including funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA2 ratio, fixed charge coverage ratio, and 
restrictions on distributions. All financial covenants were in compliance as at December 31, 2014. 

                                                 
1 As disclosed in Note 19 – Notes Payable, the Company renegotiated the terms of the vendor notes payable in January 2015 to extend the maturity to 
June 30, 2016. 
2 As defined in the credit facilities agreement, references to “Adjusted EBITDA” is to earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and 
amortization; adjusted for gain/loss arising from extraordinary, unusual or non-recurring items; acquisition costs and deferred consideration revenue; 
non-cash expenses; gain/loss realized upon the disposal of capital property; gain/loss on foreign exchange translation; gain/loss on purchase or 
redemption of securities issued; amounts attributable to minority equity investments; and interest income. Adjusted EBITDA is not a recognized 
measure under IFRS and does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS, and the Company’s method of calculating Adjusted EBITDA may 
differ from the methods used by other similar entities. 
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As disclosed in Note 6 – Financial Instruments, on July 23, 2014, the Company amended the 7.0% 
convertible debentures with a face value of $46,000 to extend the maturity date from December 31, 
2014 to June 30, 2019.  

 
(e) Fair value measurements 

The fair values of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, vendor notes 
payable, consent fee notes payable and finance lease obligation approximate their carrying amounts 
due to their short-term maturity.  

The fair value of the Company’s credit facilities (net of deferred financing costs) approximate carrying 
value due to the variable rate of interest of the debt. 

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments – Disclosures, requires financial instruments that are measured 
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped in Levels 1 to 3, in the fair value hierarchy, 
based on the degree to which the fair value is observable. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy 
are: 

 Level 1 – inputs derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities; 

 Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and 

 Level 3 – fair value derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability 
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

For financial instruments recognized at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company determines 
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorization at the 
end of each reporting period.  There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 for the years 
ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013. 
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The following tables summarize the Company’s fair value hierarchy for those assets and liabilities that 
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013: 

 As at December 31, 2014 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

    
Cash   $ 10,342  $ -  $ - 
Deferred share plan liability1  - 391   - 
    
  $ 10,342  $ 391  $ - 

 
 

 As at December 31, 2013 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

    
Cash   $ 8,066  $ -  $ - 
Deferred share plan liability1  - 138   - 
    
  $ 8,066  $ 138  $ - 

 
NOTE 13: CHANGE IN NON-CASH OPERATING WORKING CAPITAL 
 

 Year ended 

  December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 
   
Accounts receivable  $ (9,807)  $ 40,293 
Work in process   3,864   21,660 
Prepaid expenses and other assets    (3,841)   (409) 
Bank indebtedness   -   (589) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   17,110   (6,603) 
Deferred revenue   15,809   3,146 
Net income taxes payable   (493)   110 
Acquisition of working capital   -   (1,547) 
   

Change in non-cash operating working capital  $ 22,642  $ 56,061 

 
 

  

                                                 
1 The deferred share plan liability is grouped with accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the statement of financial position. See 
Note 16 – Deferred Share Plan, for further discussion. 
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NOTE 14: COMMITMENTS 

Non-cancellable operating leases where the Company is the lessee are payable as set out below.        
These amounts represent the minimum annual future lease payments (excluding CAM and property 
taxes), in aggregate, that the Company is required to make under existing operating lease 
agreements. 

 
   
2015    $ 20,968 
2016    20,355 
2017    18,872 
2018    16,575 
2019    13,020 
Thereafter    87,973 
   

 
The Company leases certain property and equipment under operating leases. The leases typically 
run for an initial lease period with the potential to renew the leases after the initial period at the option 
of the Company.  

One of the leased properties has been sub-let by the Company. The lease expires in 2024 and the 
sublease expires in 2018. Sublease payments of $1,457 are expected to be received during 2015.   

The rent expense recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss:  

 Year ended 

  December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 
   
Lease expense             $      22,414                             $     20,058 
Onerous lease provision                       4,798                                              - 
Sublease income                        (364)                                                  -              
   
Total rent expense             $      26,848                 $     20,058 
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NOTE 15: FINANCE COSTS (INCOME) 
 

 Year ended 
 December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 
   
Interest on credit facilities  $ 6,363  $ 3,641 
Interest on convertible debentures   7,820   7,820 
Interest on consent fee notes payable                          115                               - 
Non-cash accretion of convertible debentures   3,705   2,147 
Non-cash accretion of consent fee notes payable                          193                               - 
Other   497   614 
   

Interest expense, net  $ 18,693  $ 14,222 
   
Amortization of deferred financing costs   $ 3,803  $ 402 
Gain on extinguishment of 7.0% convertible        
debentures 

                   (18,700)                                                        -   

Other                          312                           229 
   

Other finance (income) costs  $ (14,585)  $ 631 

Finance costs for the year  $ 4,108  $ 14,853 
 
NOTE 16: DEFERRED SHARE PLAN 

 
The Company offers a deferred share plan (“DSP”) for members of the board of directors. Under the 
DSP, directors of the Company may elect to allocate all or a portion of their annual compensation in 
the form of deferred shares rather than cash. These shares are fully vested upon issuance and are 
recorded as a financial liability at FVTPL in the consolidated statement of financial position amounting 
to $391. Directors can only redeem their DSPs for shares when they retire.  

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company granted 164,820 deferred shares 
(December 31, 2013 – 103,380) and redeemed 113,993 deferred shares (December 31, 2013 – nil), 
for a total of 207,954 deferred shares outstanding as at December 31, 2014 (December 31, 2013 – 
157,127). Compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2014 related to the deferred 
shares was $393 (December 31, 2013 – recovery of $209). There is no unrecognized compensation 
expense related to deferred shares, since these awards vest immediately when granted. 
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debentures 

                   (18,700)                                                        -   

Other                          312                           229 
   

Other finance (income) costs  $ (14,585)  $ 631 

Finance costs for the year  $ 4,108  $ 14,853 
 
NOTE 16: DEFERRED SHARE PLAN 

 
The Company offers a deferred share plan (“DSP”) for members of the board of directors. Under the 
DSP, directors of the Company may elect to allocate all or a portion of their annual compensation in 
the form of deferred shares rather than cash. These shares are fully vested upon issuance and are 
recorded as a financial liability at FVTPL in the consolidated statement of financial position amounting 
to $391. Directors can only redeem their DSPs for shares when they retire.  

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company granted 164,820 deferred shares 
(December 31, 2013 – 103,380) and redeemed 113,993 deferred shares (December 31, 2013 – nil), 
for a total of 207,954 deferred shares outstanding as at December 31, 2014 (December 31, 2013 – 
157,127). Compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2014 related to the deferred 
shares was $393 (December 31, 2013 – recovery of $209). There is no unrecognized compensation 
expense related to deferred shares, since these awards vest immediately when granted. 
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The table below shows the DSP transactions for the year ended December 31, 2014: 

 Deferred 
shares 

Fair value 

   
Balance, January 1, 2014   157,127     $            138 
Deferred shares issued   164,820   289 
Deferred shares redeemed (113,993) (140) 
Change in fair value due to share price   -   104 
   

Balance, December 31, 2014   207,954      $ 391 
 
The table below shows the DSP transactions for the year ended December 31, 2013: 

 Deferred 
shares 

Fair value 

   
Balance, January 1, 2013   53,747     $            347 
Deferred shares issued   103,380   162 
Change in fair value due to share price   -   (371) 
   

Balance, December 31, 2013   157,127      $ 138 

NOTE 17: CONTINGENCIES 

(a) Legal matters 

In the normal course of business, the Company is a defendant in a number of lawsuits. The potential 
liability, if any, is not determinable and in management's opinion, it would not have a material effect 
on these consolidated financial statements, therefore no provisions have been recorded.  

(b) Indemnifications  
 
The Company provides indemnifications and, in very limited circumstances, bonds, which are often 
standard contractual terms, to counterparties in transactions such as purchase and sale contracts for 
assets or shares, service agreements, and leasing transactions. The Company also indemnifies its 
Directors and officers against any and all claims or losses reasonably incurred in the performance of 
their service to the Company to the extent permitted by law. These indemnifications may require the 
Company to compensate the counterparty for costs incurred as a result of various events, including 
changes in or in the interpretation of laws and regulations, or as a result of litigation claims or 
statutory sanctions that may be suffered by the counterparty as a consequence of the transaction. 
The terms of these indemnifications will vary based upon the contract, the nature of which prevents 
the Company from making a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount that it could be 
required to pay to counterparties. The Company carries liability insurance, subject to certain 
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deductibles and policy limits that provides protection against certain insurable indemnifications. 
Historically, the Company has not made any significant payments under such indemnifications, and 
no provisions have been accrued in the accompanying consolidated financial statements with respect 
to these indemnifications as it is not probable that there will be an outflow of resources. 

NOTE 18: DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

During 2014, management determined that certain operations were no longer meaningful contributors 
to net earnings. Accordingly, a decision was made to solicit bids from prospective purchasers in 
relation to the sale of these operations.   
 
On October 2, 2014, an agreement was reached to sell certain net assets and operations of IBI/DAA 
Group Inc.; CHB-IBI Group Inc. and Martin, Marcotte-Beinhaker Inc. (hereinafter collectively described 
as “Quebec”), to Services Intégrés Lemay & Associés Inc. (“Lemay”). Subject to final closing 
adjustments, the gross proceeds for the sale of Quebec were expected to be approximately $10,902.  
As a part of this arrangement, the Company entered into a separate sublease agreement with Lemay 
for the use of a portion of the Montreal premises for a 3.5 year term and with a one year renewal 
option, effective October 1, 2014. While the overall agreement excludes the sale of any leasehold 
improvements made to the premises by the Company, it was determined that Lemay is effectively 
obtaining some value from the use of these assets during the term of the sublease and accordingly, 
approximately $500 of the proceeds were allocated to the leasehold improvements for the purposes of 
determining its fair value as of October 2, 2014. 
 
The Company also sold a 30% equity interest in China to Lemay for approximately $510, subject to 
final closing adjustments. In addition, a 19% equity interest in China was sold to Champlain (2014) Inc. 
(“Champlain”) in exchange for a non-interest bearing receivable for $475.  The receivable will be 
settled based on an earn-out period over the next four years.  Champlain is 100% owned by Daniel 
Arbour, who has led IBI Group’s operations in China and is a related party to the Company.  
 
Of the total proceeds received from Lemay of $11,412, $9,082 was received in cash on October 2, 
2014 and $2,330 was held in escrow which will be released upon finalization of the closing 
adjustments and the satisfaction of other post-closing conditions. The final determination of working 
capital which resulted in the escrow is subject to an arbitration process. Until such time as that 
arbitration concludes, the Company has excluded the escrow amount from the proceeds of sale. In 
addition, approximately $1,900 of accounts receivable were not sold and will be collected in the normal 
course. 
 
As the sale of Quebec and the 49% equity interest in China met the definition of “discontinued 
operations” under IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations (“IFRS 5”) as 
at December 31, 2014, the net loss, other comprehensive loss and total comprehensive loss 
associated with those operations have been reclassified from continuing operations to discontinued 
operations. 
 
IFRS 5 requires assets held for sale to be measured at the lower of their carrying value and fair value 
less costs to sell. When the assets of these entities were held for sale, management evaluated the 
expected fair value less costs to sell and determined that it was lower than the carrying value, based 
on the purchase price consideration noted above, net of transaction costs for approximately $594. As 
a result, an impairment charge of $479 was recorded against the net assets sold in Quebec and a 
$4,172 impairment charge was recorded against the net assets sold in China. The combined 
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impairment charge of $4,651 was recorded in the loss from discontinued operations in the statement of 
comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2014.   

   
The comparative consolidated statement of comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 
2013 has been restated to show the discontinued operations separately from continuing operations. 

 
The following table summarizes the net loss and cash flows from discontinued operations for Quebec 
and China combined: 

         Year ended 
 

  
December 31, 

2014 
December 31, 

2013 
     

Revenue         $        23,480        $        30,579 

Expenses   24,750 43,604 

Impairment on remeasurement of discontinued 
operations 

  (6,981) - 

Operating loss    $        (8,251) (13,026) 

Finance costs    322 500 

Current taxes   68 44 

Cumulative translation adjustment recognition   438 - 

Net loss from discontinued operations     $        (9,079)   $       (13,570) 

Net loss from discontinued operations attributable to:     

Common shareholders   $        (7,063) $       (10,494) 

Non-controlling interest   (2,016) (3,076) 

     
Net cash from (used in) operating activities     $            (42)   $         4,532 
Net cash from (used in) investing activities      (89)       (3,702) 
Net cash from (used in) financing activities       (137)    (911) 
Effect of foreign currency translation   (22) (490) 

Net decrease in cash during the period    (290)               (571) 

Cash, beginning of period   371 942 

Cash, end of period   $              81  $      371 
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The following table summarizes the effect of the disposal of Quebec and China on the financial                
position of the Company: 

 
December 31,  

2014 
Cash           $          282         
Accounts receivable    9,221 
Work in process    5,596 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    2,399 
Property and equipment    1,094 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    (3,698) 
Deferred revenue     (1,874) 
Income taxes payable    (43) 
Due to related parties    (1,565) 

Net assets and liabilities    $      11,412 
Consideration received    11,412 
Less: Cash held in escrow    2,330 

Net cash inflow     $       9,082         

 
Management has determined that the expected benefits to be derived by the Company for the 
leasehold improvements made to the Montreal premises were not fully recoverable and therefore, an 
impairment charge of $3,248 was recorded to impairment of property and equipment in continuing 
operations in the statement of comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2014.   
 
Furthermore, Management determined that the head lease for the Montreal premises constitutes an 
onerous lease contract and therefore, has recorded a charge of $5,129 in rent expense from 
continuing operations in the statement of comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2014, 
given the expected benefits to be derived by the Company from this contract were lower than the 
unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. As at December 31, 2014, the 
outstanding balance of the provision was $4,738. The provision represents the present value of the 
future lease payments that the Company is presently obligated to make under a non-cancellable head 
lease contract discounted at a pre-tax risk free discount rate of 2%, less the recovery of the tenant 
improvement allowance and estimated future sublease income. The estimate may vary as a result of 
changes in the utilization of the leased premises and sublease arrangements where applicable. The 
unexpired term of the head lease is until March 1, 2024.  
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NOTE 19: NOTES PAYABLE 

The movement in the vendor notes payable and adjustments to these obligations are as follows: 

  
Balance, January 1, 2013 $            16,696 
Share issuances (2,560) 
Repayment (4,985) 
Foreign exchange 615 
Purchase price adjustments (1,851) 
Reclassification to non-controlling interest (2,534) 
Balance, December 31, 2013 $            5,381 
  
Repayment (795) 
Foreign exchange 427 

  
Balance, December 31, 2014 $ 5,013 

 
The Company has notes payable due to the former owners of acquired businesses of $2,777 which 
was due on September 30, 2014 and the remaining balance was due on December 11, 2014. The 
Company renegotiated the terms of these notes payable in January 2015 to extend the maturity to 
June 30, 2016. Monthly payments on these notes payable are US $0.1 million until May 31, 2016 with 
a balloon payment of US $2.7 million due June 30, 2016. 
 
The movement in the consent fee notes payable for the year ended December 31, 2014 is as follows: 
 

    Total 
 
Balance, January 1, 2014    $  - 
Issuance       2,438 
Accretion       193 
    
Balance, December 31, 2014    $  2,631 

See Note 6 - Financial Instruments for further details regarding the issuance of consent fee notes     
related to the amendment of the 7.0% convertible debentures during 2014. 

 
NOTE 20: INVESTMENT IN EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEE 

 
As described in Note 18 – Discontinued Operations, on October 2, 2014, the Company’s interest in IBI 
China Holdings Limited (“China”) decreased from 100% to 51%.  Although the Company retained 51% 
interest in China, the Company has determined that it does not have control of this entity and thus it is 
being accounted for as an equity investment subsequent to the sale. 
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The following table summarizes the financial information of China as included in its own financial 
statements, adjusted for fair value adjustments at acquisition and differences in accounting policies.  
The table also reconciles the summarized financial information to the carrying amount of the 
Company’s interest in China.   
 

  December 31, 2014 
   
Current assets 
Non-current assets 

                                 $3,852 
         -    

Current liabilities       647 
Non-current liabilities    1,603 
   
Net assets (100%)                             1,602 
Share of net assets of equity accounted investee 
(51%) 

                    $         817 

 
The information presented in the following table includes the results of China only for the period from 
October 3, 2014 to December 31, 2014, because this investment was accounted for as a 
consolidated subsidiary prior to that date. 
 

 

 

October 3, 
2014 – 

December 31, 
2014 

 
   Revenue                                                                                                                     $                  754 
   Net loss from continuing operations                                                                       (159) 
   Other comprehensive loss                   - 
   Total comprehensive loss                                                                                                             (159) 

   
Share of total comprehensive loss (51%)         $        (81) 

 
     The following table reconciles the Company’s investment in China as at December 31, 2014: 

 
 

December 31, 
2014 

 

         Investment in China, October 3, 2014                                                                                $           898 

  Share of loss of equity-accounted investee                                                                                     (81) 
       

Investment in China, December 31, 2014      $          817 
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